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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	JAMES G. MCKENNA, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                   Claimant,

                                                   v. 

ARCO ALASKA, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ACE USA,

formerly Alaska Pacific Assurance Co.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                 Defendants.
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	FINAL AND INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDERS

AWCB Case No. 199028636
AWCB Case No. 198802683

AWCB Decision No. 12-0070
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on April 9, 2012


Arco Alaska, Inc. and ACE USA’s (collectively, Employer, ARCO, insurer, or adjuster) July 14, 2011 petition to dismiss Mr. McKenna’s (Employee or Mr. McKenna) non-medical claims; and Employee’s October 6, 2011 petition to strike pharmacy logs and prescription receipts from binders prepared for the second independent medical evaluation (SIME), and his October 21, 2011 petition contesting questions proposed by Employer for the SIME physician, were heard on February 29, 2012, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Michael Jensen represented Employee.  Employee was present, but did not testify, having testified previously through deposition. Attorney Michelle Meshke represented Employer. James Roberts testified telephonically on behalf of Employer.  There were no other witnesses.  The record was left open to receive copies of Controversion Notices purportedly filed on April 19, 1999 and July 31, 2003, Employee’s Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney Fees, Employer’s Objection, if any, and Employee’s response.  

On March 12, 2012, Employee filed a Petition to Strike an additional pharmacy log, Bates stamped pages 846-884, filed by Employer in a Supplemental SIME binder on March 8, 2012.  At a March 21, 2012 prehearing conference, the parties agreed their arguments concerning Employee’s petition to strike the newly filed pharmacy log were the same as those expressed at the February 29, 2012 hearing addressing previously filed pharmacy records.  The parties agreed the board should consider Employee’s March 12, 2012 petition to strike the additional pharmacy records with the issues under advisement, with no further briefing or hearing.  The record closed on March 21, 2012.  

The decision and orders hereunder concerning Employer’s petition to dismiss Employee’s non-medical claims are final orders.  The decision and orders pertaining to the SIME binders and questions are interlocutory orders.  


ISSUES

Employer contends Employee knew of his disability, his disablement, and its relation to his employment for ARCO, no later than March 25, 2008.  Employer contends Employee thus had two years, or until March 25, 2010, to file any workers’ compensation claim (WCC or claim) for non-medical benefits.  Because Employee did not file a claim until August 23, 2010, Employer contends, Employee’s non-medical claims should be dismissed under AS 23.30.105(a). Employer further contends its adjuster purged its records from the 1988 injury, and it would be prejudiced were Employee’s claims not dismissed.

Employee contends his February 16, 1988 work injury is governed by §105(a) in effect prior to amendments effective July 1, 1988.  He contends that for injuries occurring prior to July 1, 1988, where, as here, payment of compensation is made by the employer without an award, a claim may be filed within two years from the last date compensation was paid.  He contends Employer paid for thoracic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) on or about March 18, 2009, thus allowing him until on or about March 18, 2011 within which to timely file a claim for his 1988 injury.  Since he filed a claim for both injuries on August 23, 2010, Employee contends, the claim or claims were timely under AS 23.30.105(a). 

Employee further contends he did not know the full effects of his disability, his disablement, and its relation to his employment for ARCO as early as Employer contends, his claims were timely filed and should not be dismissed.

1)  Should Employee’s claim for disability benefits for his February 16, 1988 work injury be dismissed under AS 23.30.105(a)?

2)  Should Employee’s claim for disability benefits for his October 28, 1990 work injury be dismissed under AS 23.30.105(a)?

Employee contends Employer’s SIME binders were prepared and submitted in violation of 8 AAC 45.092(h).  Specifically, Employee contends the binders contain pharmacy and other non-medical records, and records placed out of chronological order, which may improperly influence the SIME physician’s assessment of his claim.  Employee contends Bates stamped pages numbered 8-140, 495, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884 should be stricken from the SIME binders.  

Employer concedes it placed pharmacy logs and receipts for prescription medicines out of chronological order, at pages 008-140, because its defense counsel stores them in its case file in this manner.  Employer contends the Board should create an exception to the rule requiring medical records be organized in chronological order in SIME binders for pharmacy records.  It contends requiring chronological placement of pharmacy log entries would be a waste of time, resources, paper and mailing costs.  Employer contends the pharmacy logs and receipts, at 008-140, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884 of the SIME binders, should not be stricken because they provide “a handy summary for the SIME physician” to obtain an overview of Employee’s prescription drug use.  

Employer further contends Bates stamped page 495, a letter to Employee from the human resources (HR) director for Peak Oilfield Services, should remain in the SIME binder because it provides context for page 498, a letter to the HR director from treating physician Michael James, MD. 

3)  Should the June 29, 2006 letter from James Roberts, HR director for Peak Oilfield Services, Bates stamped page 495, be stricken from the SIME binders?

4)  Should pharmacy logs and prescription receipts, Bates stamped pages 008-140, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884, be stricken from the SIME binders?

Employee contends Employer’s proposed questions for the SIME physician, numbered 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D and 3E are not questions, and should be excluded from the board’s letter to the SIME physician.  Additionally, Employee contends the attachments to Employer’s paragraph 3D are not medical records, and for that reason should not be included with the questions sent with the SIME binders.  Finally, Employee contends Employer’s question 4, footnote 1, includes an objectionable legal standard of causation, and should not be submitted.  Employee contends Employer will be permitted to ask the SIME physician any questions it chooses, by interrogatory or deposition, after the SIME report has been received.  
Employer contends there is no legal basis upon which to exclude from the board’s SIME letter Employer’s proposed question number 3, including all of its subparts and attachments. Employer contends its proposed question 4, footnote 1, recites the correct legal standard and should be included.  

5)  Should Employer’s proposed questions for the SIME physician, numbered 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D and its attachments, question 3E, and footnote 1 to question 4, be excluded from the board’s letter to the SIME physician?

Should he prevail Employee seeks an award of attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b) for 19.4 hours of attorney time at $385.00 per hour, 12.4 hours of paralegal time at $165.00 per hour, and costs of $19.35, for a total award of $11,613.95.  Employer objects to the affidavit of fees on numerous grounds.  Employer contends the paralegal rate is excessive, seeks fees for work too vague to determine whether it is awardable or is clerical in nature, and contains entries previously billed or duplicative of attorney time billed.  Employer contends entries for attorney time are for issues unrelated to the subject of this hearing, are for work previously billed and awarded, are duplicative of paralegal entries, or are too vague.  Employer finally argues since this was an interlocutory hearing and did not address the merits of Employee’s claim, benefits cannot be awarded under AS 23.30.145(a).   In response to Employer’s objections, Employee concedes some entries were in error, and its request for an award of fees and costs should be revised to $10,469.35.

6)   Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs?  If so, in what amount?

FINDINGS OF FACT

On November 21, 2011, James G. McKenna v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 11-0164 (November 21, 2011) (McKenna I), addressing competing petitions for releases and protective orders, issued.  This decision incorporates by reference those findings of fact in McKenna I which pertain to the issues raised in these proceedings, and excerpts those which provide context for the issues raised in this hearing.   Review of the record as a whole establishes the following relevant facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On February 16, 1988, while tightening a flange on a valve at Employer’s Swanson River facilities, Employee slipped on cellar boards, fell backwards onto a valve, and injured his back. Both Employee and Employer reported the body part affected as Employee’s “back.”(Report of Occupational Injury (ROI), February 16, 1988; see also ARCO Injury Investigation Report, February 16, 1988).  

2) On February 17, 1988, Employee was evaluated for the work injury in the emergency room (ER) at Central Peninsula General Hospital, in Soldotna, Alaska where Employee resides.  Cynthia Mildbrand, MD, assessed left rhomboid muscle strain and left rib contusion. (ER note, February 17, 1988).

3) On February 22, 1988, imaging performed on Employee’s thoracic spine showed “very minimal scoliosis” with some old disc space calcifications in the upper thoracic region.  The left shoulder and cervical spine were reported as normal.  (X-ray report, William Chervenak, MD, February 22, 1988). 

4) In March, 1988, Employee sought care from his chiropractor, William West, DC, for thoracic pain, returning periodically for symptomatic relief.  (Ongoing chart notes, William West, DC).

5) Employee was employed for ARCO on a “week on/week off” schedule, and lost no time from work for this injury.  (ROI; medical records; WC computer database, “Payments” tab).

6) On January 26, 1989, on referral from Dr. West for a medical examination for continuing thoracic pain, Employee was evaluated in Anchorage, at Alaska Spine Institute (ASI), by Michael James, MD. Dr. James’ impressions were left T7 radiculopathy demonstrated by electromyography (EMG) testing, left meralgia paresthetica (lateral cutaneous nerve entrapment) with paresthesias of the left anterolateral thigh, with headaches and neck pain secondary to muscle spasm associated with T7 root compromise.  (Chart note, Dr. James, January 26, 1989).

7) A February 6, 1989 MRI of Employee’s thoracic spine was negative.  (MRI report, Janice A. Anderson, MD, and David A. Moeller, MD, February 6, 1989).

8) On February 13, 1989, Dr. James noted Employee’s thoracic root injury was persistent, his pain was somewhat relieved by Feldene and he should continue his normal activities.  (Dr. James, chart note, February 13, 1989).

9) At a March 6, 1989 visit, Dr. James continued Employee on Feldene for pain, noting thoracic injuries are a persistent problem, best treated by controlling symptoms and encouraging the patient to continue with regular activities.  (Dr. James, chart note, March 6, 1989).

10) On May 31, 1989, Dr. James noted Employee continued to have intermittent thoracic back pain relieved significantly with Feldene. Dr. James noted Employee was becoming depressed and suggested antidepressants.  Employee opted to wait until the next follow up visit to determine if his depression had improved.  Dr. James noted Employee continued to see Dr. West for symptomatic relief, and suggested he continue to do so at least for the near future.  (Dr. James, chart note, May 31, 1989).

11) On August 21, 1989, Dr. James noted Employee was doing reasonably well and controlling his pain with anti-inflammatories.  Dr. James changed pain medications to Meclomen due to gastrointestinal (GI) distress caused by Feldene.  Dr. James also prescribed Elavil to be taken at bed time to help Employee with rest and his continuing depression, which Dr. James noted “was evident.”  (Dr. James, chart note, August 21, 1989).

12) On October 5, 1989, Dr. James noted an improvement in Employee’s depression and continued the Elavil, but switched him to Clinoril for pain with the hope it would provide better relief.  (Dr. James, chart note, October 5, 1989).

13) On January 15, 1990, Dr. James added Anexsia to Employee’s prescription regimen.  (Chart note, January 15, 1990).

14) On February 12, 1990, Dr. James noted no appreciable improvement or relief from symptoms.  He continued the Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, February 12, 1990).

15) In Dr. James’ absence, on April 5, 1990, Employee was evaluated in Soldotna by Lavern R. Davidhizar, DO, for continuing back pain related to his work injury.  Dr. Davidhizar prescribed physical therapy and Talwin NX.  He noted Employee continued to work since his work injury, and has been able to “get by” because he works a week on and a week off and can rest during the week he is off work.  (Dr. Davidhizar, chart note, April 5, 1990; see also March 30, 1990 entry in Dr. James’ chart notes).

16) Employee returned to Dr. Davidhizar on April 10, 1990, reporting continuing problems with his back, with pain mostly in the left thoracic area, and radiating around anterolaterally to the left chest.  He reported pain and numbness.  On physical examination Dr. Davidhizar noted tenderness and muscle spasm in the mid thoracic area, and assessed radicular pain.  Physical therapy was continued.  (Dr. Davidhizar, chart note, April 10, 1990).  Dr. Davidhizar noted in his charts Employee had suffered a work injury.  He completed and filed the Physician Report forms with Employer’s insurance carrier.  (Physician Report forms, some bearing ALPAC receipt stamp).

17) On an April 19, 1990 visit, Dr. James noted no substantive change in Employee’s condition.  He opined it was not reasonable to use chiropractic care to treat chronic pain, but was reasonable to use it for severe re-exacerbation of pain.  Dr. James further opined there was no specific treatment which would resolve Employee’s thoracic root injury and any further care would be to alleviate symptoms.  (Dr. James, chart note, April 19, 1990).

18) On May 31, 1990, Dr. James refilled Employee’s Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, May 31, 1990).

19) On June 22, 1990, Dr. James’ assistant, at Dr. James’ direction, returned a telephone call to Marlene Sjoberg, with Employer’s insurance carrier, conveying Dr. James’ opinion Employee’s chiropractic visits were not too frequent, and should continue at current intervals.  (Dr. James, chart note, June 22, 1990).

20) On August 6, 1990, Employee saw Dr. James again for routine follow-up to his thoracic injury.  A chest x-ray was ordered on Employee’s complaint of paresthesias of the left axilla as well as tightening of the left axillary muscles.  Dr. James suspected secondary inflammatory reaction and muscle spasm.  Employee’s medications were refilled, including Anexsia.  He was to follow-up in three months.  (Dr. James, chart note, August 6, 1990).

21) On October 28, 1990, Employee re-injured his back when opening a well choke valve plugged with ice.  He felt a pop in his back while turning the valve with a wrench.  (ARCO Injury Investigation Report, 10/28/1990).  Employee reported that while applying pressure to open the choke “something popped in his back.”  Employee reported the body part affected as his “Center Back.”  (ROI, October 29, 1990).  

22) On October 29, 1990, Employee called Dr. James, reporting he re-injured his back at work, missed work that day, and asking for Dr. James’ recommendations.  Dr. James advised ice, and to see his Soldotna doctor if his pain persisted.  When Dr. James’ office called Employee back, he reported he had seen his chiropractor and x-rays were taken.  An appointment with Dr. James was made for Employee for the following week.  (Dr. James, chart notes, October 29, 1990). 

23) On November 7, 1990, Employee returned to Dr. James after his second work injury, complaining of a pop in his thoracic spine and describing severe thoracic back pain referred into the left chest wall.  Dr. James noted an MRI ruled out a disc injury, but showed probable traction injury to the left T6 root with parathesias and referred pain.  Dr. James took Employee off work for two weeks and prescribed Tylox and Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, November 7, 1990, bearing December 12, 1990 receipt stamp by workers’ compensation insurer).

24) The medical records reflect Dr. James’ continuing treatment for Employee’s thoracic spine injuries from January 28, 1989, his first visit to Dr. James following the February 16, 1988 work injury, and continuing through the October 28, 1990 thoracic spine re-injury, and thereafter at the recommended intervals.  Dr. James’ treatment over time included prescribed physical therapy, ultrasound, TENS
 unit, and repeated transforaminal epidural steroid injections and medial branch blocks at multiple thoracic vertebrae levels, left and right, through at least February 2, 2012.   (Dr. James’ complete medical records, January 26, 1989 through February 2, 2012; Letter from Marguerite McIntosh, MD, May 20, 2010; see also excerpts in McKenna I, Findings of Fact 1, 2, 8-24, 26-39, 41-43, 47-90, 93-95, 97-98, 100-102, 106, 139, 141). 
25) From 1989 through 2012, Dr. James’ chart notes were contemporaneously sent to and received by Employer’s workers’ compensation insurance carrier.  (Notations at bottom of Dr. James’ chart notes; see also corresponding insurer receipted date stamps on medical records).

26) Dr. West completed Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board Physician Report forms for work injury related treatment. (Physician Report forms, March, 1988 and ongoing).

27) The medical records for treatment Employee received for the February 16, 1988 thoracic work injury, from the date he first sought treatment on February 17, 1988, through and beyond the October 28, 1990 thoracic work injury, appear complete.  There is no evidence the medical records pertaining to Employee’s February 16, 1988 work injury are incomplete. (Medical records; Experience). 

28) According to insurer receipted date stamps on Employee’s medical records, Employer was receiving Employee’s medical records from the time of the initial work injury in February, 1988, through the re-injury in October, 1990, and thereafter, throughout each and every year from 1988 and continuing. (See chronological medical records in SIME binders, bearing insurer dated receipt stamps).
29) On December 20, 1991, at Employer’s request, Employee appeared for an employer’s independent medical evaluation (EME) conducted by Theodore G. Obenchain, MD.  Dr. Obenchain noted Employee having fallen backward onto his thoracolumbar spine.  On physical examination Dr. Obenchain noted tenderness in Employee’s thoracic spine at T7, 8 and 9 on the left, his reported numbness in that area, and suggested Employee’s report of a “ball” in the area was likely muscle spasm.  Dr. Obenchain diagnosed “probably thoracic facet pain with prominent left hemithoracic pain.”  (EME report, December 20, 1991).

30) On September 1, 1995, Employer’s adjuster’s notes indicate a discussion between Employee and the adjuster concerning case status.  The adjuster wrote Employee: 

“is still an operator for Unocal, but this is a ltr duty operator job than he had with Arco.  Now he drives around in a truck/taking readings/very lt duty.  We briefly discussed a possible full/final stlmt of his clm based on some amt for future medicals, since we have only maint trt in form of prescription meds and occasional f-ups with Dr. James every 2-3 mos.  Also, I told him, he certainly has some opportunities of aggravations with work with new ER/Unocal/even all the driving he does could cause some aggravation & he agrees with this/therefore, perhaps we could agree on some amt for future meds.”    

(Adjuster Note, September 1, 1995, Affidavit of Service, August 8, 2011).

31) In March, 1996, the medical records suggest Employee’s primary care physician in Soldotna was Marcus Deede, MD.  By 1998 his local Soldotna primary care physician was Marguerite McIntosh, MD.  (Medical Summaries, filed September 21, 2010, March 9, 2012).
32) On April 19, 1999, Employer purportedly filed a Controversion Notice using only the 1990 work injury number, 199028636, denying all benefits related to joint pain or arthritis in wrists, hands, knees and feet, noting “No medical documentation [received] that treatment [provided for joint pain or arthritis in wrists, hands, knees and feet] is related to the work injury to the back.”  While the workers’ compensation (WC) computer database reflects a Controversion Notice was filed at that time, the only Notice in the board’s file at the time of the initial prehearing conference on November 30, 2010, was a copy filed with Employer’s Answer to the WCC on November 9, 2010, and was unsigned. (Prehearing Conference Summary, November 30, 2010).

33) On July 28, 2003, Employer purportedly filed another Controversion Notice using only the 1990 work injury number, denying all medical treatment for carpal tunnel syndrome, noting “Our injury is to the mid back.  No complaints of carpal tunnel syndrome related to this injury.”  While the WC database reflects a Controversion Notice was also filed on the stated date, again the only Notice in the board’s file at the November 30, 2010 prehearing conference was also an unsigned copy which also had been filed with Employer’s Answer to the WCC on November 9, 2010.  The hearing officer conducting the prehearing conference instructed Employer’s counsel to provide the board with signed copies of the April 19, 1999 and July 28, 2003 Controversion Notices.  (Id.)  

34) In a follow-up letter to the hearing officer, counsel reported Employer’s inability to locate signed copies of either the 1999 or 2003 Controversion Notices, but stated they would be filed if and when located.  (Letter from Robin Gabbert, Esq. to Marie Marx, December 16, 2010).  When signed copies of the two Controversion Notices had still not been filed by the time of the February 29, 2012 hearing, Employer was again asked to file them.  On March 1, 2012, copies of Controversion Notices dated April 19, 1999 and July 28, 2003 were again filed, also unsigned.  Although the 1999 Controversion Notice was purportedly prepared by Claims Representative Kathy Keheley, and the July 28, 2003 Controversion Notice was purportedly prepared by Claims Representative Patti Mackay, neither bears the preparer’s signature, nor any signature certifying the notice was mailed to the employee and the board as required.  In addition, each of the purported Controversion Notices contain only the front side of the board prescribed form.  Both notices, unsigned and bearing no certificate of service, omit the back side of the form, the purpose of which is to notify the injured worker of the statutory requirements for timely filing claims and requesting hearings.  (Controversion Notices dated 4/19/99 and 7/28/2003; experience). 

35) Employee continued treating with Dr. James for his ongoing thoracic pain throughout this period, receiving medial branch blocks at left T7, T8, T9 and T10 on September 1, 2004, and facet blocks at right T7, T8, T9, and T10 on September 15, 2004, and follow-up with either Dr. James or his assistant Shawna Wilson, ANP-C, on September 30, 2004, November 11, 2004 and December 16, 2004.  Dr. James’ diagnosis remained thoracic facet syndrome, thoracic radiculopathy, and chronic thoracic spine pain.  Consideration was given to neuropathic agents, such as Neurontin.  (Dr. James’ chart notes, September 1, 2004; September 15, 2004; September 30, 2004; November 11, 2004).    

36) On December 9, 2004, at Employer’s request, Employee appeared for another EME conducted by Edward A. Grossenbacher, MD.  The earliest medical record provided to Dr. Grossenbacher was dated November 7, 1990, for care Employee sought following the second thoracic spine injury.  Dr. Grossenbacher diagnosed degenerative disc disease T5-6, T7-8 with small disc herniation to the right at T5-6 by recent MRI on August 28, 2004; thoracic radiculopathy, chronic; history of depression; and bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome (CPS).  He attributed all but the CPS to the work injury, noting that Employee’s medical treatment had been ongoing since the “original” injury of October 28, 1990, Mr. McKenna’s thoracic pain and radicular complaints around the thoracic cage had been persistent as documented by multiple physicians, were reproducible, reliable and objectively verifiable over the intervening 14 years, and there had been no recovery. (EME report, December 9, 2004). 

37) Employee continued treating in Anchorage with Dr. James for his ongoing thoracic pain during this period, and in Soldotna with Dr. McIntosh for the common maladies a general practitioner treats, as well as thoracic pain.  (Dr. McIntosh chart notes, December 13, 2004; January 21, 2005; March 4, 2005, July 20, 2005; Dr. James chart notes, December 16, 2004, May 3, 2005, August 2005).

38) On a December 16, 2004 visit with Ms. Wilson at Dr. James office, Employee’s chief complaint was “mid back pain.”  Ms. Wilson again suggested a neuropathic agent other than Neurontin, noting she would check with Dr. McIntosh to coordinate prescriptions.  (Dr. James chart notes, December 16, 2004).

39) On May 3, 2005, Employee’s chief complaint to Ms. Wilson was as before: “mid back pain.”  She diagnosed chronic thoracic spine pain, myofascial
 pain of the thoracic and neck musculature, depression secondary to chronic pain and functional loss, and gastritis secondary to medication.  Trigger point injections were performed at eight sites surrounding the left scapula in the superior border of the trapezius.  (Dr. James chart notes, May 3, 2005).

40) On return to Dr. James’ office on August 8, 2005, Employee reported several weeks of relief after trigger point injections and wished to repeat them.  Ms. Wilson diagnosed chronic thoracic spine pain, myofascial pain of the mid back, shoulder and neck, depression, well controlled, and reflux and dyspepsia secondary to medications.  Trigger point injections were repeated at 10 sites in the left thoracic paraspinals, the mid thoracic region, left trapezius, left rhomboid, left latissimus dorsis and left levator scapula muscles.  (Dr. James office notes, August 8, 2005).

41) On October 27, 2005, Employee’s chief complaints at Dr. James’ office were mid back pain, left shoulder pain, and bilateral hand paresthesias.  The chart notes indicate that since his last visit, Employee had an escalation of symptoms with radiation into the left scapula and trapezius areas.  Employee continued to be symptomatic in the thoracic area, prior trigger point injections gave him some relief, and it was agreed those would be repeated.  Nine sites were identified and injected in the thoracic paraspinals, left latissimus dorsi, rhomboid and trapezius muscles.  The assessment was chronic thoracic spine pain, myofascial pain of the thoracic and shoulder area; bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome not work related; and left shoulder pain, suspect AC joint arthritis, not work related.  (Dr. James office note, October 27, 2005). 

42) On November 14, 2005, Employee returned to Dr. James’ office complaining of left shoulder pain.   His mid back pain was reported as static.  Left shoulder x-rays obtained to evaluate the left AC joint were returned unremarkable, with no significant arthritis identified in the AC joint.  Ms. Wilson noted Employee’s significant left shoulder pain seemed to be isolated to the shoulder itself.  While he reported neck pain, Ms. Wilson reported it as minor, with no signs of cervical radiculopathy.  Two steroid injections were made in Employee’s left shoulder.  (Dr. James office note, November 14, 2005).

43) On December 6, 2005, Employer purportedly filed a Controversion Notice using the 1990 work injury number, denying medical treatment for left shoulder and bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, noting “Based on the medical report of Shawna Wilson, ANP, dated 10-27-05, the left shoulder and bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome is (sic) not considered work related.”  While the WC database reflects a Controversion Notice was received at this time, the notice in the board’s file at the time of the November 30, 2010 prehearing conference had been filed with Employer’s Answer to the WCC on November 9, 2010, was unsigned, and again omitted the back side of the board prescribed form.  No signed copy of this purported Controversion Notice, nor any containing the reverse side of the form, has been filed. (Prehearing Conference Summary, November 30, 2010).

44) Employee continued treating with Dr. James or Ms. Wilson throughout 2006 and 2007, his chief complaint consistently “Mid back pain.” Dr. James’ and Ms. Wilson’s impressions were consistently reported as “Chronic thoracic spine pain and myofascial pain of the mid back.”  Trigger point injections were oft repeated.  (Dr. James’ chart notes, July 6, 2006, October 17, 2006, January 12, 2007, April 26, 2007).

45)
 On May 10, 2007, on referral from Dr. James, another MRI of Employee’s thoracic spine was performed.  The impression was disc degenerative changes in the mid dorsal spine consisting of disc space narrowing and desiccation of disc material, with a tiny midline protrusion at T6-7.  It did not appear the protrusion was causing mass effect on adjacent neural elements.  (MRI Report, Dr. McCormick, May 10, 2007).

46)
 On a June 21, 2007 follow-up with Dr. James, Employee’s chief complaint remained “Mid back pain.”  Dr. James reviewed the MRI results with Employee, showing disc degeneration at T5-6, T6-7 and T7-8, with a small protrusion at T6-T7.  Dr. James assessed chronic thoracic spine pain, paresthesias of the chest wall, static, myofascial pain of the thoracic area, sleep disturbance secondary to chronic pain, nausea and gastritis secondary to medication, and depression secondary to chronic pain and functional limitation.  A total of 10 trigger point injections were performed.  (Chart note, Dr. James, June 21, 2007).

47) Employee continued chiropractic treatments with Michael Koob, DC, in May, June and August, 2007.  (Chart notes, Dr. Koob).

48)
On August 16, 2007, on referral from Dr. Koob for complaints of left upper extremity numbness, Employee underwent an MRI of his cervical spine. Kamran Janjua, MD’s impression was moderate discogenic spondylosis C5-C6 without associated cord impingement, severe bilateral neural foraminal narrowing from C3-C4 and C6-C7, and overall mild multilevel degenerative disc and degenerative facet disease.  (Dr. Janjua, MRI report, August 16, 2007).

49)
On November 13, 2007, Employee’s chief complaint to Dr. James remained “Mid back pain.”  Dr. James’ impression remained chronic thoracic spine pain and myofascial pain of the thoracic area.  Trigger point injections into the right thoracic paraspinal, latissimus dorsi, rhomboid and trapezius muscles were again carried out.  Prescriptions for Celebrex and Ultram were renewed.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, November 13, 2007).

50) On November 26, 2007, Employee was evaluated by Dr. McIntosh with his chief complaint being neck pain.  Dr. McIntosh noted the pain is getting worse and “can’t be tolerated at times.”  “He has to commute 1½ hours to work and has to stop halfway there because of the pain.”  She noted numbness in his left third digit and weakness in his left hand grip.  Reviewing the imaging of Employee’s neck ordered by Dr. Koob, Dr. McIntosh noted discogenic spondylosis at C5-6 without cord impingement, severe bilateral neuroforaminal narrowing at C5-6, overall moderate bilateral neuroforaminal narrowing between the C3-4 through C6-7 levels, mild multilevel degenerative disc disease and mild overall degenerative facet disease.  She diagnosed cervical disc disease, prescribed Nabumetone, Chlorzoxazone, and Ultram for Employee’s neck pain, and sent a referral to orthopedist Davis Peterson, MD.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, November 26, 2007).

51) On January 31, 2008, on referral from Dr. McIntosh for his neck pain, Employee was examined by Dr. Peterson at Alaska Fracture and Orthopedic Clinic (AFOC).  After diagnosing chronic neck pain likely from facet arthropathy, non-dermatomal numbness in upper extremities, and possible rotator cuff pathology, Dr. Peterson recommended EMG/NCV (nerve conduction velocity) testing of the left upper extremity, physical therapy, and consultation with Advanced Medical Centers of Alaska for possible left-sided facet blocks at C5-C6. (Dr. Peterson, chart note, and letter to Dr. McIntosh, January 31, 2008).

52) On March 4, 2008, on referral from Dr. Peterson, Employee saw Gregory Polston, MD, at Advanced Medical Centers of Alaska.  When asked on the patient information form the location of the symptoms for which he was seeing Dr. Polston, Employee responded: “Both Right and Left Side,” “Neck,” “Shoulder,” “Arm(s),” “Wrist(s),” “Hand(s),” “Finger(s),” “Chest.”  He did not check the boxes to indicate he was seeing Dr. Polston for his “upper,” “middle” or “lower back.”  Asked if he was seeing Dr. Polston for a work injury, Employee responded “No.”  Asked if his symptoms began after an injury, Employee checked “No,” and wrote “not that I am aware of.”  Dr. Polston diagnosed “Cervical facet and thoracic pain” and performed cervical facet injections on Employee. (Chart and procedure notes, March 4, 2008; Patient Information, March 3, 2008 (sic, March 4, 2008)).

53) On March 12, 2008, Employee returned to Dr. McIntosh “for follow-up of his blood pressure and his neck pain.” She reported in her chart notes “patient has severe pain, 6/10 or greater in the left side of his neck.  It is where he can’t work anymore . . . He just recently got injection in the left side of his neck through Dr. Peterson’s (sic) office . . . He is no longer able to do the work that he is assigned to do on his job and is thinking of quitting.  He does have some disability policies and I will be glad to fill those out for him. He should be off work, trying new pain medications.”  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, March 12, 2008).

54) On March 13, 2008, Employee returned to Dr. James for follow-up of his chronic thoracic pain.  Dr. James’ impression remained chronic thoracic spine pain, and myofascial pain of the thoracic area.  Dr. James repeated trigger point injections at 10 sites, two in the lower thoracic paraspinals, two in the latissimus dorsi, two in the rhomboid bilaterally, and two in the medial inferior trapezius bilaterally.  Employee was instructed to follow-up in three to four months.  (Chart note, Dr. James, March 13, 2008).

55) By letter dated March 31, 2008, Employee was granted a leave of absence under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) from his employer at the time, Peak Oilfield Services (Peak).  He was instructed his leave would be for 12 weeks, from April 2, 2008 (the day he would have returned to work from his “week off”) until June 25, 2008.  He was instructed to have completed and return the required physician certification form by April 25, 2008.  He was notified if he could not return to work with a full medical release on June 25, 2008, he would be terminated.  (Letter from James Roberts, HR director for Peak Oilfield Services, to Employee, March 31, 2008).

56) On March 31, 2008, Employee returned to Dr. Polston, reporting the cervical facet injection relieved pain for most of the day of injection but then returned, the pain remained on the left side of his neck and radiated to his scapula. Employee reported his neck pain was not controlled. On physical examination Dr. Polston noted Employee’s cervical spine showed tenderness on palpation left lateral facets, no full range of motion, with cervical lateral flexion abnormal, pain elicited by motion, by left-sided rotation, and by left-sided lateral bending.  Dr. Polston’s impression was cervical disc degeneration, and cervical spondylosis.  The plan was to repeat medial branch block of facet nerves to see if Employee would benefit from RFA (radio frequency ablation).  He was to begin physical therapy (PT).  (Chart note, Dr. Polston, March 31, 2008).

57) On April 2, 2008, on referral from Dr. McIntosh, Employee began PT with Frontier Physical Therapy in Soldotna.  The diagnosis was cervical disorder and cervical radiculitis.  The physical therapist noted Employee’s rehabilitation potential as good, and noted Employee’s awareness of his diagnosis and prognosis.  The medical records reflect Employee attending PT on at least eleven occasions in April.  (Chart notes, Frontier Physical Therapy, Damon Hastings, PT, April 2, 2008 through April 30, 2008). 

58) On April 14, 2008, Employee returned to Dr. McIntosh for follow-up of his neck pain.  He reported no improvement after the injections in his neck.  Dr. McIntosh prescribed MSIR (morphine sulfate immediate release), noting Employee “still has marked tenderness and spasm of the trapezius muscle on the left.”  Dr. McIntosh assessed myofascial pain syndrome.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, April 14, 2008).

59) On April 22, 2008, Dr. Polston assessed cervical disc degeneration, cervical facet syndrome, cervical spondylosis, cervical spondylosis (C4-C5) and cervical spondylosis (C5-C6).  He performed diagnostic cervical medial branch blocks at C4, C5, and C6 on the left, to determine if they are candidates for radiofrequency ablation of the nerves.  (Procedure notes, April 22, 2008).

60) On April 23, 2008, on further referral, Franklin Ellenson, MD, performed nerve conduction studies and EMG on Employee for complaints of left shoulder and neck pain with numbness in the left third and fourth digits.  The NCV/EMG showed no electrodiagnostic evidence for myopathy, radiculopathy or neuropathy.  (Dr. Ellenson, report, April 23, 2008).

61) On April 24, 2008, Dr. McIntosh signed a “Physician Certification for Family or Medical Leave” for Employee to be off work from April 2, 2008 to June 25, 2008, for a chronic incapacitating condition, unspecified, which was expected to last more than three months.  The certification noted the treatment during the leave period would consist of prescription drugs, therapy and surgery.   (Physician Certification for Family or Medical Leave, Dr. McIntosh, April 24, 2008).

62) On May 12, 2008, Employee was seen by Margaret Scrimager, ANP, in Dr. McIntosh’s absence.  Ms. Scrimager noted Employee was in for follow-up for neck pain, observed him “guarding his neck,” and assessed “chronic neck pain not responding to injections and physical therapy.”  She advised Employee to follow-up with Dr. McIntosh within the week for continuing care for his chronic neck pain. (Chart note, ANP Scrimager, May 12, 2008).
63) On May 19, 2008, Dr. McIntosh again evaluated Employee for his chronic neck pain.  She noted morphine was not working, discontinued it, and prescribed Percocet instead.  She noted nothing has worked on Employee’s pain, and referred him back to Anchorage specialists for his “chronic neck pain,” noting “He is unable to work with this chronic pain.”  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, May 19, 2008).

64) While it is unclear from the physician’s certification on the FMLA form alone which chronic condition Dr. McIntosh was referring to when she certified Employee’s incapacity, a preponderance of the evidence demonstrates Dr. McIntosh’s belief Employee’s inability to work at that time was the result of his cervical, not his thoracic pain:  In August, 2007, x-rays revealed Employee suffering severe bilateral neural foraminal narrowing from C3-C4 and C6-C7, and overall mild multilevel degenerative disc and degenerative facet disease.  Beginning at least as early as November, 26, 2007, Dr. McIntosh’s attention, concern and treatment were directed almost exclusively to Employee’s cervical symptoms.  She diagnosed cervical disc disease, and referred Employee to Dr. Peterson in Anchorage for an orthopedic consultation.  Dr. Peterson saw Employee for his cervical, not his thoracic symptoms, and referred Employee to Dr. Polston, for cervical injections.  Dr. Polston performed repeated cervical injections and cervical medial branch blocks.  Dr. McIntosh’s chart notes for November 26, 2007, March 12, 2008, and May 19, 2008, critical dates surrounding her assessment of his incapacity, are particularly enlightening.  On November 26, 2007, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s chief complaint was neck pain, it was getting worse and “can’t be tolerated at times.”  With respect to work, she noted “He has to commute 1-1/2 hours to work and has to stop halfway there because of the pain.” (emphasis added).  After a March 12, 2008 office visit “for follow-up of his . . . neck pain,” Dr. McIntosh opined “patient has severe pain, 6/10 or greater in the left side of his neck.  It is where he can’t work anymore . . . He just recently got injection in the left side of his neck through Dr. Peterson’s (sic) office. . . He is no longer able to do the work that he is assigned to do on his job . . . He should be off work, trying new pain medications.” (emphasis added). On May 19, 2008 Dr. McIntosh again evaluated Employee for his chronic neck pain.  She noted morphine was not working to alleviate his pain, discontinued it, and prescribed Percocet instead.  She noted “nothing has worked” to reduce Employee’s pain, and again referred him to Anchorage for his “chronic neck pain” opining “He is unable to work with this chronic pain.” (emphasis added). (Medical records as a whole from August, 2007 throughout 2008, particularly those of Dr. McIntosh, Dr. Peterson, Dr. Polston; Findings of Fact 45-48, 50-61, above, and 64; see also McKenna I, Findings of Fact 101, 103-105,107-116). 

65) Employee also saw his chiropractor, Dr. Koob, during this period, on May 23, 2008 and June 25, 2008.  (Chart notes, Dr. Koob). 

66) On June 19, 2008, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s neck pain was radiating to his thoracic spine, “site of a previous workman’s comp injury.” (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, June 19, 2008).

67) Employee did not return to work after exhausting his FMLA leave on June 25, 2008.  (July 3, 2008 letter from James Roberts to James McKenna).  
68) On June 27, 2008, Employee filed an application for Social Security benefits.  The conditions he listed as limiting his ability to work were “Nerve Damage, Arthritus (sic), DDD, Ruptured and Bulging Discs.” The manner in which his work was limited he listed as “I can’t sit, and stand for long periods and get tense when doing computer work, I have trouble driving and can’t wear seatbelt.”  Asked when he stopped working he wrote “03/25/2008.” (Disability Determination and Transmittal; Disability Report).   However, the first day he missed work due to disability was April 2, 2008, when, but for his FMLA leave, was the date he would have returned for his regular “week on,” following his regular “week off.”  (July 3, 2008 letter from James Roberts to James McKenna).
69) Asked on the Social Security benefits application why he stopped working, Employee wrote:  “I finally realized I could not continue.”  (Disability Report-Adult-Form SSA-3368).
70) On July 3, 2008, Peak, through its HR director, notified Employee his FMLA benefits had been exhausted:  “Your 12 weeks of FMLA leave began on April 2, 2008 and exhausted on June 25, 2008.  Up to this date, I have not received any document indicating that you are able to return to work.  Therefore, in accordance with our FMLA policy, Peak is terminating your employment effective July 1, 2008.”  (July 3, 2008 letter from James Roberts to James McKenna).  
71) On July 10, 2008, the Social Security Administration (SSA) sent Employee a Notice of Disapproved Claim, finding him ineligible for Supplemental Security Income (SSI).
  (Notice of Disapproved Claim, July 10, 2008).
72) On July 21, 2008, on referral from Dr. McIntosh, Employee was seen at Orthopedic Physicians Anchorage (OPA) by Royce Morgan, PA-C.  PA Morgan noted Employee was in for evaluation of neck pain, left upper extremity numbness and tingling.  Performing a physical examination, and reviewing x-ray and MRI, Mr. Morgan diagnosed multilevel degenerative disc disease, cervical spine; facet syndrome; chronic neck pain and left upper extremity radiculopathy.  Mr. Morgan noted Employee had not had any significant improvement of symptoms with PT, facet blocks and median nerve branch blocks.  His plan was to review the films and MRI with Dr. Eule and discuss other treatment options.  Possible treatment options were discussed with Employee, and Mr. Morgan was to get back with him after conferring with Dr. Eule.  (Chart note, Royce Morgan, PA-C, July 21, 2008).
73) On August 8, 2008, Dr. McIntosh evaluated Employee in follow up on “neck and back pain.”   She now noted severe pain in the thoracic spine which radiated “up and down.”  She further noted Employee complained of waking, both in the middle of the night and in the morning, in excruciating pain for two hours until his pain medicine got into his system.  For the first time she opined:  “Chronic myofascial pain syndrome that originated with a thoracic injury,” noting Employee’s pain was not adequately controlled.  Dr. McIntosh stopped Tramadol and added Fentanyl patches to Employee’s pain medication regimen.  A lab test ordered to test Rheumatoid Arthritis Factor was returned negative.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, August 8, 2008; lab result, August 14, 2008).

74) From a contact between the insurance adjuster and Employee on August 20, 2008, the adjuster reported in her “Claim Comments:”  “. . . said that I was looking in his file and saw that the last employer was Unocal, but they are out of business and Agrium who took over, is also out of business.   Who is he working for now. (sic) He said he had been working for Peak, but got laid off just a couple wek (sic) ago.  He was working down on the Peninsula, not on the North Slope.  He is looking for work now.  He has been in the oil industry for a long time and will be looking for work in the same type of occupation.  He was working as an operator.  He saw his dr a couple wks ago also, his next appt is 8-22 for f/u.”  (Affidavit of Service, August 8, 2011). 

75) On September 12, 2008, Dr. McIntosh documented Employee’s pain as being very severe, noted he could do nothing around the house, and long periods of sitting exacerbated his pain, Employee was not able to lift his left arm over his head, and bending his head forward caused pain to shoot down the thoracic spine.  She diagnosed myofascial pain syndrome and increased Fentanyl.  A prescription for 240 Endocet 10/325 to be taken one to two every four hours as needed was given to Employee.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, September 12, 2008).

76) On September 27, 2008, at the direction of the SSA, Employee was seen by Jay E. Caldwell, MD, for a Physical Residual Function Capacity Assessment.  Dr. Caldwell’s Primary Diagnosis was “Cervical spondylosis.”
  He listed no secondary diagnosis.  Explaining his conclusion, Dr. Caldwell wrote: About a year of neck and LUE (left upper extremity).  MRI (8.16.7) →C567 DDD with [L] foraminal stenosis at C56.  Underwent medial branch block 4.22.8 with temporary benefit.  Was supposed to have EDx studies but apparently not.  Most recent f/u 7/21/8, essentially unchanged.  No decision re: further Rx.”   (Physical Residual Function Capacity Assessment, Jay E. Caldwell, Medical Consultant, September 27, 2008).

77) On October 15, 2008, on Employee’s further follow-up with Dr. McIntosh, she described his “continuing pain located in his neck, down his left shoulder, and in the middle of his thoracic spine between his shoulder blades.”  She referred Employee to Anchorage for consideration of a spinal stimulator implant.  (Chart note, Dr. McIntosh, October 15, 2008).

78) On October 24, 2008, at Employer’s request, Employee appeared for a further EME conducted by Thad Stanford, MD.  As with Dr. Grossenbacher, the earliest medical record Dr. Stanford was provided was an MRI report dated November 7, 1990, following the second thoracic work injury.  Dr. Stanford diagnosed “Chronic intradiscal injury, mid thoracic spine, probably T8-T9, though it could be T9-T10 or both.”  Dr. Stanford opined, inter alia, “the injury of October 28, 1990 is a substantial factor in his current need for medical treatment and continued symptoms.  Mr. McKenna had damage to the joint space and it continues to deteriorate. . . the work injury of October 28, 1990 is the substantial cause for the current need for medical treatment and continued symptoms . . . he has worked hard over the years and there is no question that there will be more erosion to the joint space because of that work, but this would not have happened absent the injury of October 28, 1990.” Dr. Stanford opined “There is no evidence in any of the records that he has tried to use his injury to be off work.  He simply is having enough discomfort that he cannot work appropriately and he also has enough pain that he is not living his life appropriately.  This is why, though I am often opposed to surgery, I am open to Dr. Eule replacing the disc if he feels it is an appropriate approach to the problem.” Dr. Stanford also noted Employee’s complaints of shoulder, cervical and right buttock pain, but opined these complaints were not related “to his original (sic) injury of October 28, 1990.” (EME report, October 24, 2008 at 6-8).  It is unknown what disc Dr. Stanford is referring to, since Employee was seen by Dr. Eule’s PA-C for cervical pain, Employee had not yet seen Dr. Eule, and Dr. Stanford’s evaluation was for Employee’s accepted thoracic injury and pain symptoms.  (Medical records; observations).

79) On October 27, 2008, Employee saw James Eule, MD, as an “in-house referral,” presumably from PA-C Morgan.  Viewing the 2006 and 2007 MRI reports, Dr. Eule assessed cervical degenerative changes with questionable cervical radiculopathy, facet arthropathy, and “small thoracic disc herniation of unlikely clinical significance.” He ordered cervical and thoracic MRIs, noting the need to understand Mr. McKenna’s pain “in order to be able to have any hope of having anything to offer him to make him better.”  Responding to Employee’s question about a spinal cord stimulator, Dr. Eule noted that would be a last option “if and when we do not have any other options for him.”  He noted should that occur, Dr. Polston’s medical group could offer a spinal cord stimulator trial. (Chart note, Dr. Eule, October 27, 2008).

80) On October 30, 2008, the cervical and thoracic MRIs Dr. Eule ordered were performed.  The cervical MRI showed several small protrusions in the midline at C 4-5, 5-6 and 6-7, none of which was reported to exert significant mass effect on adjacent neural elements.  No large protrusions or extruded disc fragments were seen.  The thoracic MRI showed no bulges or protrusions, and no central or foraminal spinal stenosis.  Dr. Eule met with Employee, noting Employee continued having significant neck and upper trapezius pain, particularly on the left side, and mid and left sided back pain, but there was nothing surgical he could do to help him.  Dr. Eule referred Employee back to Dr. Polston for consideration of a spinal cord stimulator trial.  (MRI report, John McCormick, MD, October 30, 2008; Chart note, Dr. Eule, October 30, 2008).

81) On November 3, 2008, Employer filed a Controversion Notice denying medical benefits for Employee’s shoulder, cervical spine and low back, relying on Dr. Stanford’s October 24, 2008 EME report stating “there is no medical evidence to support that the left shoulder, cervical spine or low back and buttocks complaints and need for treatment are related to, or the result of the original (sic) work injury of October 1990.”  This is the first Controversion Notice on file bearing a signature certifying the notice was sent to Employee.  It is also the first notice containing the board-prescribed and required notice to an injured worker of the statutory deadlines for filing claims and requesting hearings.  (Controversion Notice, dated 10/28/2008).

82) On November 14, 2008, based on Dr. Caldwell’s evaluation, and medical records received from Drs. Eule, Polston, Koob, McIntosh, Frontier Physical Therapy and Alaska Open Imaging, but apparently not from Dr. James, the SSA determined Employee was eligible for Social Security Disability (SSD) benefits.
  The SSA Disability and Determination Transmittal reflects its primary and sole diagnosis for granting SSD benefits is “Body System 01,” “Code No. 7240,” “Disorders of Back (Discogenic & Degenerative). (Case Analysis and Disability Case Documentation Index, November 14, 2008; Disability and Determination Transmittal, November 14, 2008). 
83) On November 22, 2008, Employee was notified he was entitled to monthly social security disability benefits beginning September 2008, after a finding his disability began on March 25, 2008.  (Notice of Award, November 22, 2008).
84) On January 28, 2009, Dr. McIntosh refilled Employee’s medications and noted he was getting satisfactory pain relief from the combination of Endocet, Fentanyl and Celebrex.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, January 28, 2009).

85) On February 11, 2009, Dr. Ellenson examined Employee for chronic back pain.  Dr. Ellenson prescribed a muscle relaxer and massage therapy, and recommended Employee consider Botox injections.  (Dr. Ellenson, chart note, February 11, 2009).

86) On March 6, 2009, senior claims representative Patti Mackay wrote to Mr. McKenna enclosing for his signature a Social Security Release of Information form she had previously spoken to him about.  She wrote:

I have also completed a recent review of your file.  As you know we have denied your cervical, shoulder and low back treatment.  Even though you have not yet filed a claim with the Alaska Board regarding that denial, I would like to offer you the option of settlement of your workers compensation claim.  I am not in the position to make you an offer at this time, but would like to inquire if you would be interested and what you think your claim would be worth to settle.  Please take into consideration that the only accepted portion of your claim is your mid back (thoracic spine).  If you are interested, I would be happy to discuss further with you and would need you to return the enclosed releases. . .

(Letter from Ms. Mackay to Mr. McKenna, March 6, 2009, filed with Employee’s Affidavit of Service, April 6, 2011).

87) Neither this letter, nor any evidence, shows Ms. Mackay, or any predecessor adjuster on Mr. McKenna’s case, provided him with the necessary claim forms, written instructions, and the assistance 3 AAC 26.100 requires an adjuster handling a workers’ compensation case to provide to an unrepresented injured employee. (March 6, 2009 adjuster note; record).

88) On March 17, 2009, Ms. Mackay wrote to Mr. McKenna following up an earlier telephone conversation concerning an outstanding MRI bill for $2,550.00, during which she agreed to pay Mr. McKenna one half the cost of the cervical and thoracic MRIs ordered by Dr. Eule and incurred on October 30, 2008.  On March 18, 2009, a check for $1,275.00 was issued to Mr. McKenna.  (Letter, dated March 17, 2009; Check, dated March 18, 2009).
 

89) On May 12, 2009, in a letter to Adjuster Patti Mackay, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s prescription medications Flomax, Zolpidem, Nexium, Endocet, Fentanel, Celebrex and Tramadol were all related to his work injury.  She further noted no physician had recommended Mr. McKenna undergo surgery.  (Letter, May 12, 2009).

90) On May 15, 2009, Dr. Stanford reviewed additional medical records and issued a supplemental EME report.  He opined Employee’s pain complaints were not aligned with the objective medical evidence, and Employee no longer needed any treatment other than counseling to wean him from excessive narcotic pain medications.  (EME Report, May 15, 2009).

91) On October 15, 2009, based on Dr. Stanford’s May 15, 2009 report, Employer, through counsel who entered her appearance on October 15, 2009, filed a Controversion Notice denying all medical treatment except counseling to wean Employee from narcotic pain medication.  (Controversion Notice dated October 13, 2009).

92) On December 1, 2009, and December 23, 2009, presumably in response to Employee’s having signed the SSA records release tendered to him by Ms. Mackay in March, 2009, Employer received information from the SSA concerning Employee’s status as a social security recipient.  (Letter to Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski (RWG & B), November 27, 2009; Letter to Mr. McKenna, December 22, 2009, bearing RWG & B receipt stamp dated December 23, 2009).

93) On December 8, 2009, having reviewed additional records provided him by Employer’s counsel, Dr. Stanford issued another EME report.  Although Dr. Stanford stated “I have reviewed these records previously and of importance of course are the numerous visits and studies showing the presence of thoracic sprain/strain in 1988 and 1989,” comparing this report with Dr. Stanford’s earlier reports dated October 24, 2008, and May 15, 2009, it appears this was the first time Dr. Stanford was in fact provided the medical records from and following Employee’s first thoracic work injury on February 16, 1988.
  In this report, having reviewed medical records beginning February 17, 1988, including several studies and visits between that time and Mr. McKenna’s “alleged” injury at work on October 28, 1990, as well as records from 37 chiropractic visits between March 21, 1988 through October 22, 1990, Dr. Stanford observed Mr. McKenna “had significant symptoms prior to his injury in October of 1990,” and “it is very clear that the October 1990 work episode is not a substantial factor in causing his spinal conditions, complaints and need for treatment, including narcotic medicines or surgery should he come to that . . . There is a natural progression of this type of symptomatology . . . I cannot implicate a specific episode on October 28, 1990 considering the history for 2½ years, at least, prior to that date.”   Dr. Stanford was apparently not informed Employee first sustained a thoracic work injury while employed by Employer on February 16, 1988, the day before the February 17, 1988 medical record he was now provided and asked to review.  Dr. Stanford further stated:  “I have not felt at any point that he was a surgical candidate and I certainly feel that way now.”
 (EME Report, December 8, 2009).

94) Based on Dr. Stanford’s December 8, 2009 EME report, on December 23, 2009, Employer controverted all medical benefits including weaning from narcotics.  (Controversion Notice dated December 22, 2009).

95) On December 30, 2009, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s medications had been controverted and he could only afford methadone.  She prescribed methadone which she noted caused Employee to be very sleepy.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note and physicians report, December 30, 2009).

96) On April 29, 2010, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s “conservative approach to medication use” and the shame he associates with the use of methadone.  She noted Employee was afraid his methadone use would make his children think it was acceptable to use drugs.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, April 29, 2010).

97) On May 20, 2010, Dr. McIntosh opined Employee’s documented T7 radiculopathy from the 1988 work injury was exacerbated by the 1990 work injury.  She noted Employee’s continued pain complaints and need for pain medication.  Her diagnoses were chronic thoracic spine pain, myofascial pain of the thoracic area, depression secondary to chronic pain and functional limitation, thoracic radiculopathy, thoracic degenerative disc disease (DDD), thoracic arthropathy, and hypertension probably secondary to anti-inflammatories used to treat his pain.  Dr. McIntosh opined Employee’s need for treatment was reasonable and necessary, and related to either the 1988 or 1990 work injuries.  (Letter, May 20, 2010).

98) On August 13, 2010, Dr. McIntosh reexamined Employee and noted his thoracic spine was very tender, his trapezius muscle had “exquisitely tender” knots, and he experienced continued numbness around his chest wall.  Dr. McIntosh refilled Employee’s methadone prescription for one month.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, August 13, 2010).

99) On August 23, 2010, Employee, in propia persona, filed a workers’ compensation claim he completed and signed on July 1, 2010.  Asked to describe how the injury happened, Employee wrote:

10-28-1990  At oilfield-Ice plug made choke harder than normal to rotate.  While applying pressure turning & twisting valve, to open choke something in my back popped.

2-17-88  Pulling hard on wrench, slipped and fell backwards and landed on my back on (ends in mid-sentence)

      Asked the part of his body injured, he wrote:

Left Thoractic (sic) Spine – left shoulder – neck

      Asked the nature of the injury, Employee described it as:

Always in pain – can barely do anything around house without pain.  It hurts more if uses (sic) arm.  Even sitting for prolonged periods to exacerbate (sic) the pain.  Can’t raise left arm over my head.  Pain is excruciating at times.  Even when I bend head forward.  I have sharp pain that shoots down my thoractic (sic) spine.

      Asked the reason for filing the claim, and to be specific, Mr. McKenna wrote:

Unfair controvert denial.  Even though (Patty McKay [sic]) workers comp knows I have had treatment for yrs. She is trying to take everything away from me!  All medical treatment and medication.  All through the years she did not tell me that I could go to the board and fight any of the denials.  I never knew any of this until a lawyer told me to call workers comp. for a workers compensation board file, and to get a workers compensation claim.  Want to get my medical & medicine back from you that I intitled (sic) to and to settle.  

       Asked what benefits the claim was made for, Employee wrote:

Was unsure about some questions, want to ask an attorney first.  Was told just to get this in first.

Mr. McKenna then checked the boxes for Permanent Total Disability, from “9-25-08?” and   for Unfair of Frivolous Controvert.  (WCC signed July 1, 2010, received for filing in Juneau, August 23, 2010).  

100) On September 13, 2010, Dr. McIntosh reaffirmed her statements in the May 20, 2010 letter.  (Handwritten note on copy of May 20, 2010 letter).

101) On September 22, 2010, Employer again controverted all benefits based on Dr. Stanford’s December 8, 2009 EME addendum report, and filed an answer alleging as affirmative defenses the possible application of the last injurious exposure rule, failure to mitigate damages, untimely claim filing under AS 23.30.105, AS 23.30.095, and the doctrine of laches.  (Controversion Notice, dated September 20, 2010).

102) On October 4, 2010, Dr. McIntosh confirmed Employee’s work injury was a substantial factor in causing his current back and neck symptoms and need for treatment.  She opined Employee had reached maximum medical improvement since managing his pain was the only remaining option.  (September 28, 2010 Letter from attorney Michael Jensen, completed and signed by Dr. McIntosh on October 4, 2010).

103) On October 6, 2010, Dr. McIntosh followed up with another letter to Mr. Jensen noting Dr. Stanford’s previous agreement with Employee’s treating physicians on causation.  Dr. McIntosh discounted the adjuster’s assertion that a fifteen year old injury could not continue to cause pain, noting nerve injuries can worsen over time.  She disagreed with Employer’s Controversion Notice.  (Letter, October 6, 2010).

104) In a December 9, 2010 letter, Dr. James opined Employee’s work injury was a substantial factor in causing his current neck and back conditions, and a substantial factor in combining with any preexisting condition resulting in a need for further treatment.  Dr. James also stated Employee had reached maximum medical improvement and had received a permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating of 7% on February 16, 1995.  (December 9, 2010, Letter from Mr. Jensen, completed and signed by Dr. James on January 19, 2011).

105) On November 9, 2010, and December 20, 2010, Employer again filed Answers, alleging as affirmative defenses, inter alia, that Employee’s claim was barred under statutes of limitation set out at AS 23.30.100, AS 23.30.105 and AS 23.30.110(c).  (Answer, November 9, 2010).  

106) On December 27, 2010, Employer filed another Controversion Notice denying temporary total disability (TTD), PPI, medical benefits and related transportation, reemployment benefits, attorney fees, costs, penalties and interest, and contending the claim was barred under AS 23.30.100, AS 23.30.105, AS 23.30.110(c) or otherwise by law or equity.  (Controversion Notice dated December 22, 2010).

107) At a prehearing conference on January 6, 2011, Employer acknowledged it remained unable to locate signed copies of the controversion notices dated “04/19/99, 07/28/03, and 12/06/05.”  (Prehearing conference summary, January 6, 2011).

108) On January 19, 2011, Employee again saw Dr. James, who noted no change in Employee’s back pain, and his opinion narcotic pain medication provided less pain control over time.  (Dr. James, chart note, January 19, 2011).

109) On January 24, 2011, Mr. Jensen entered an appearance on Mr. McKenna’s behalf.  (Entry of Appearance, January 24, 2011).

110) At a March 1, 2011 prehearing conference, Employee’s claims were amended to include cumulative trauma occurring during the entirety of his employment for ARCO.  (Prehearing conference summary, March 1, 2011). 

111) On March 7, 2011, Employee was examined by Gary Olbrich, MD, for another EME.  Dr. Olbrich documented Employee’s pharmaceutical use during the course of recovery to include narcotic and non-narcotic medications.  Dr. Olbrich also documented a history of heavy drinking and smoking as a young man, though noting Employee no longer drinks or smokes.  Dr. Olbrich’s impressions were opioid dependence maintained in active state by use of prescription medications, nicotine dependence in remission, GERD,
 depressive disorder, and chronic pain syndrome secondary primarily to psychosocial causes and not necessarily accompanied by a recognized organic pain generator. Dr. Olbrich opined Employee’s addictive disease was preexisting and was responsible for both chronic pain and depression, and thus the work injuries were not a substantial factor in Employee’s disability or need for medical treatment.  The only treatment recommended by Dr. Olbrich was inpatient drug abuse rehabilitation, the need for which he opined was not work related.  Dr. Olbrich further opined Employee’s addictive disease was not medically stable. (EME report, March 7, 2011).

112) On March 8, 2011, and March 23, 2011, Employee was deposed.  (Deposition transcript).   Employer relies on the following exchange between Employer’s counsel and Employee, contained on pages 130-131 of the deposition, as evidence Employee was aware in March 2008, that he was unable to work due to thoracic injuries sustained while employed by ARCO in February, 1988 and October, 1990:
Q:  Okay.  So you don’t know – you don’t know what caused the problems that led to your disability in March of 2008?

A:  Sure.  Yes I do.

Q:  What was it?

A:  A wrench slipped in 1988 out at work.  And again, I was opening a valve in 1990 and something popped in my back.

. . .

Q:  Okay.  So in your mind, what was happening in 2008 was always related to these incidents back in ’88 and ’90?

A:  Yes.

(Deposition at 130-131, March 23, 2011; Employer’s Hearing Brief at 8-9).

113) On April 12, 2011, based on Dr. Olbrich’s report, Employer again controverted all benefits.  (Controversion Notice, dated April 11, 2011).

114) On May 2, 2011, Dr. Olbrich supplemented his EME report after reviewing additional medical records.  Dr. Olbrich noted Employee quit smoking, but continues to use chewing tobacco.  Dr. Olbrich amended his diagnosis to nicotine dependence active and maintained with oral tobacco.  Dr. Olbrich added Employee’s use of Tramadol/Ultram compounded his addictive disease.  (EME report addendum, May 2, 2011).

115) At a May 4, 2011 prehearing conference, the board designee ruled on a multitude of petitions to compel and for protective orders, granting some and denying others.  Another prehearing was scheduled for June 8, 2011 to consider an SIME “as well as other matters the parties may have.”  (Prehearing conference summary, May 4, 2011).
116) The June 8, 2011 prehearing conference was rescheduled to June 30, 2011, due to the prehearing officer’s unavailability.  (WC database).  
117) At the June 30, 2011 prehearing conference, the parties stipulated to an SIME, and to deadlines for completing the SIME form and binders.  They agreed that the disputes the parties list on the SIME form were subject to review by the board’s designee, who may include additional disputes or exclude listed disputes in the board’s letter to the SIME physician.  (Prehearing conference summary, June 30, 2011). 
118) On July 14, 2011, Employer filed a petition to dismiss all of Employee’s non-medical claims under AS 23.30.105(a), and on July 27, 2011, filed its Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (ARH) on the Petition.  On July 20, and July 28, 2011, Employee filed his answer to the petition to dismiss, and his objection to the ARH.  (Petition to Dismiss, dated July 13, 2011; ARH, dated July 26, 2011; Answer, July 20, 2011; Objection to ARH, July 28, 2011).
119) On July 26, 2011, the parties signed the SIME Form, agreeing the issues for the SIME physician were causation and treatment.  (SIME form, July 26, 2011).
120) On August 17, 2011, Employer’s appeal of the board designee’s May 4, 2011 discovery rulings came on for hearing. On November 31, 2011, McKenna I issued, concluding the board designee did not abuse his discretion when he granted protective orders against medical releases dating to 1963 and mental health releases for conditions other than depression.  McKenna I further held the board designee abused his discretion when he granted Employee a protective order against signing a substance abuse release, and ordered Employee to sign it.  (McKenna I).

121) On October 4, 2011, Employer filed and served the completed SIME binders.  (Affidavit of Service, October 3, 2011).

122) On October 6, 2011, Employee filed an objection and petition to strike from the SIME binders Bates stamped pages 8-140, 495, 832-834 and 839-845, containing pharmacy logs and receipts from pharmacies where Employee filled prescriptions received for both work injury and non-work injury related medications.  Employee alleged the pharmacy logs and receipts are not medical records, and were placed in the binders out of chronological order in violation of law.  Employee further sought to strike page 495, a letter from Peak’s HR director to Employee, alleging it was not a medical record appropriate for inclusion in the SIME binder.  (Objection and Petition to Strike SIME Records from Binders, October 6, 2011).

123) On October 17, 2011, as agreed at the June 30, 2011 prehearing conference, the parties submitted proposed questions for the SIME physician.  (Letters to the board designee from respective counsel, October 17, 2011). 

124) On October 20, 2011, Employee filed a Petition of Objection seeking to strike from the board’s letter to the SIME physician Employer’s proposed questions numbered 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D and its attachments, question 3E, and footnote 1 at question number 4,.  (Employee Petition objecting to Employer questions and attachments, October 20, 2011).
125) The questions to which Employee objects read as follows:
3.  When considering causes, please specifically address and comment on the following potential causes (in addition to the work injuries in 1988 and 1990 as potential causes):


A.  “Possible old injury – when young.”  Before answering this question, please specifically review the following medical records:



1.
01/24/84 chiropractic record from Dr. West (with attached chart notes from 02/24/84-12/02/87).


B.   Degenerative disc disease of the spine and/or arthritis of the joints.  Before answering this question, please specifically review the following medical records and studies, if available.  If not available, please so state:



1.
01/24/84 chiropractic record from Dr. West (with attached chart notes from 01/24/84-12/02/87);



2.
02/10/88 Central Peninsula General Hospital (CPGH) record and right shoulder x-ray;



3.
02/22/88 C-spine, T-spine, and left shoulder x-ray;



4.
01/26/89 C-spine, T-spine, and left rib series;



5.
02/06/89 PIC MRI of T-spine; and 



6.
11/07/90 T-spine MRI.


C.  Rib fractures prior to 02/17/88.  Before answering this question, please specifically review the following medical records and studies, if available.  If not available, please so state:



1.
02/17/88 CPGH Emergency Room Report.


D.  Employment with other employers from 1992 to present including self-employment with McKenna & Sons Trucking Company from 2003 to present.  Before commenting on this potential cause, please specifically review:



1.
Resume of James McKenna prepared by him in 2004, enclosed; and



2.
Social Security Itemized Statement of Earnings for James McKenna for 1988-2008, enclosed.


E.    Opiod Dependence/Active Addictive Disease.  Before commenting on this potential cause, please specifically review:



1.
03/07/11 report of Gary Olbrich, M.D., A.B.A.M., F.A.S.A.M.; and



2.
05/02/11 addendum of Dr. Olbrich.

4.
In considering all potential causes for Mr. McKenna’s current condition, which led to his need for medical treatment and disability, if any, from March 2008 until present and continuing, in your opinion, was the 2/16/88 injury at work “a substantial factor” [fn1] in causing Mr. McKenna’s current condition and need for treatment from March 2008 forward?

[fn 1]   In Alaska, the words “substantial factor” have special meaning in a workers’ compensation context.  A factor is a substantial factor if it meets each of two tests:


A.  “But for” the injury the condition and need for treatment not have occurred (sic).  The injury has to be the “cause in fact” of the condition or disability.  If the injury brought about or accelerated an underlying condition so as to bring about a condition and need for treatment sooner than it otherwise would have occurred, this test is met.  If such a conclusion cannot be drawn to a reasonable degree of medical probability, then the test has not been met and the work cannot be considered a substantial factor.


The next test must also be met:


B.     The work injury must be so important in bringing about the condition that reasonable physicians would consider the work injury to be a cause of the condition and need for treatment, and would attach responsibility for such condition and treatment to the injury.  This is a “proximate cause” test, and is different from the “cause in fact” test.  This “proximate cause” test serves as a limitation on the “cause in fact” test:  only if a reasonable physician would attach such importance to the injury that he or she would assign responsibility for the patient’s condition to the injury is this test met. (all emphasis in original). 

     Employer’s letter containing its proposed questions did not provide any legal citations  supporting the definitions contained in footnote 1 to question 4.  Nor was Employer able to provide citations to the cases on which it relied for the definitions offered in footnote 1.  (Employer questions; record).

126) On October 28, 2011, Employee filed Affidavits of Readiness for Hearing on its petitions to strike records from the SIME binders, and to strike certain of Employer’s questions from the SIME letter.  (Affidavits of Readiness for Hearing, October 28, 2011).
127) At a prehearing conference held on January 4, 2012, Employer’s petition to dismiss Employee’s claims under AS 23.30.105(a), and Employee’s petitions to strike records from the SIME binders, and questions from the SIME letter, was set for hearing on February 29, 2012.  (Prehearing conference summary, January 4, 2012).
128) On February 12, 2012, Employee was again seen by Dr. James’ for chronic thoracic pain, and received epidural steroid injections in his thoracic spine.  (Chart note, Dr. James, February 12, 2012).

129) On February 23, 2012 and March 1, 2012, counsel for Employee filed Affidavits of Attorney Fees and Costs.  Counsel sought attorney fees totaling $9,432.50, paralegal fees totaling $2,161.50, and costs of $19.35, for an award of fees and costs totaling $11,613.35. (Affidavits of Attorney Fees and Costs, February 23, 2012, March 1, 2012).

130) On February 29, 2012, Employer’s petitions to dismiss Employee’s claims, and Employee’s petitions to strike SIME records and questions, came on for hearing.  (Record).

131) On March 7, 2012, Employer objected to counsel’s affidavits of fees and costs.  In response, counsel conceded some entries in his affidavits were in error, and amended his request for an award of fees and costs to a total of $10,469.35.  (Employer’s Objection, March 7, 2012; Employee’s response, March 13, 2011).

132) On March 8, 2012, Employer filed its first binder of Supplemental Medical Records for the SIME physician.  (Affidavit of Service of Supplemental Medical Records, March 8, 2012).

133) On March 13, 2011, Employee filed a petition to strike Bates stamped pages 846-884, containing additional pharmacy logs, from the Supplemental Medical Records.  (Petition to Strike, March 13, 2011).

134) On March 21, 2012, a telephonic prehearing conference convened at the hearing officer’s request to discuss the March 13, 2011 petition to strike.  The parties agreed the board should include Employee’s March 13, 2011 petition to strike additional pharmacy logs from the SIME binders among the issues under advisement from the February 29, 2012 hearing, without further briefing or argument.  (Prehearing conference summary, March 21, 2012).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) worker’s compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

3)  this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party;

4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  

An adjudicative body must base its decision on the law, whether cited by a party or not.  Barlow v. Thompson, 221 P.3d 998 (2009).

AS 23.30.005.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.


. . . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules for all panels, and . . . shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter.  The department may by regulation provide for procedural, discovery, or stipulated matters to be heard and decided

. . . Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible.  The department, the board or a member of it may for the purposes of this chapter subpoena witnesses, administer or cause to be administered oaths, and may examine or cause to have examined the parts of the books and records of the parties to a proceeding that relate to questions in dispute. . . . .

The Alaska Supreme Court (Court) instructed the board of its duties with respect to every applicant for compensation who appears before it: 

[A] workmen’s compensation board or commission owes to every applicant for compensation the duty of fully advising him as to all the real facts which bear upon his condition and his right to compensation, so far as it may know them, and of instructing him on how to pursue that right under the law. Richard v. Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company, 384 P.2d 445 (Alaska 1963), cited with approval in Bohlmann v. Alaska Const. & Engineering, 205 P.3d 316, 319, n. 8 (Alaska 2009).

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.  Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee. [1988][1990].

The general purpose of workers’ compensation statutes is to provide workers with a simple, speedy remedy to be compensated for injuries arising out of their employment.  Hewing v. Peter Kiewit & Sons, 586 P.2d 182 (Alaska 1978).  This system is based upon “the ultimate social philosophy behind compensation liability,” which is to resolve work-related injuries “in the most efficient, most dignified, and most certain form.”  Gordon v. Burgess Construction Co., 425 P.2d 602, 604 (Alaska 1967).

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement. It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . .

. . .

(k) In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the employee’s attending physician and the employer’s independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded. . .  

The purpose of an SIME is to have an independent expert provide an opinion to assist the board in deciding a contested issue.  Seybert v. Cominco Alaska Exploration, 182 P.3d 1079, 1097 (Alaska 2008).  The SIME physician is the board’s expert.  Church v. Arctic Fire and Safety, AWCAC Decision No. 126 (December 31, 2009) at 13; Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp., AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008) at 3.  

AS 23.30.105.  Time for filing of claims.  [effective through June 30, 1988] (a)  The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement.  However, the maximum time for filing the claim in any event other than arising out of an occupational disease shall be four years from the date of injury, … except that if payment of compensation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment.  It is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compensable disability, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be determined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding. . . . 

AS 23.30.105.  Time for filing of claims.  [effective July 1, 1990] (a)  The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement.  However, the maximum time for filing the claim in any event other than arising out of an occupational disease shall be four years from the date of injury, … except that if payment of compensation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215.  It is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compensable disability, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be determined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding. . . . 

The statute of limitations under AS 23.30.105(a) is an affirmative defense which must be raised in response to a claim.  Horton v. Nome Native Community Ent., AWCB Decision No. 94-0139 (June 16, 1994).   In workers’ compensation cases, the employer bears the burden of proof to establish the affirmative defense of failure to timely file a claim.  Egemo v. Egemo Construction Co., 998 P. 2d 434, 438 (Alaska 2000); Anchorage Roofing Co., Inc. v. Gonzales, 507 P.2d 501, 504 (Alaska 1973).  

The purpose of §105(a) is to “‘protect the employer against claims too old to be successfully investigated and defended.’”  Morrison-Knudson Co. v. Vereen, 414 P.2d 536, 538 (Alaska 1966) (citing 2 Larson, Workmen’s Compensation s 78.20 at 254 (1961)).  However, an employee must have “actual or chargeable knowledge of his disability and its relation to his employment” to start the running of the two year period under §105(a).  Collins v. Arctic Builders, Inc., 31 P.3d 1286, 1290 (Alaska 2001).  In Leslie Cutting Inc. v. Bateman, 833 P.2d 691 (Alaska 1992), the Court, the court held “[t]he mere awareness of the disability’s full physical effects is not sufficient” to trigger the running of the statute.  Id. at 694.    Similarly, in Egemo, the Court held the statute of limitations under AS 23.30.105(a) begins to run only when the injured worker (1) knows of the disability, (2) knows of its relationship to the employment, and (3) is actually disabled, disabled defined as “incapacity because of injury to earn the wages the employee was earning at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.   Egemo at 441.  

Until there is some legislative resolution between the definition set out at AS 23.30.395(12), [formerly AS 23.30.265(8)], and as the word is otherwise used throughout the [Alaska Workers’ Compensation] Act (Act), the term “compensation” includes “medical benefits.”  Moretz v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989), citing Williams v. Safeway Stores, 525 P.2d 1087 (Alaska 1974).  

The Court in Tipton v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 922 P.2d 910, 912-913 (Alaska 1996) advised the defense of statute of limitations is “generally disfavored,” and neither “the law [n]or the facts should be strained in aid of it.”  Id. at 911; accord, Hornbeck v. Interior Fuels, AWCB Dec. No. 08-0072, at 4, n.5 and accompanying text (Apr. 17, 2008).

AS 23.30.105 . . . . (b) Failure to file a claim within the period prescribed in (a) of this section is not a bar to compensation unless objection to the failure is made at the first hearing of the claim in which all parties in interest are given reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard.

Applied in Justice v. RMH Aero Logging, Inc., 42 P.3d 549, 556-557 (Alaska 2002).  In Justice, where the employer was on notice of an employee’s claim for retroactive modification of his compensation rate, but failed to object to the proceedings as untimely under AS 23.30.105(a) at the first hearing of the claim, the defense was waived, and §105(b) prohibited dismissing the claim under §105(a).

AS 23.30.110. Procedure on claims. (a) Subject to the provisions of AS 23.30.105,  a claim for compensation may be filed with the board in accordance with its regulations at any time after the first seven days of disability following an injury… and the board may hear and determine all questions in respect to the claim.

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

. . .

For work injuries occurring prior to November 5, 2008, an injury is compensable under the Act if the employment was “a substantial factor” in bringing about the disability or need for medical care.  Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590, 595 (Alaska 1979).  Employment is “a substantial factor” in bringing about the disability or need for medical care where “but for” the work injury, a claimant would not have suffered disability at the time he did, in the way he did, or to the degree he did, and reasonable people would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it. Fairbanks N. Star Bor. v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).  A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability from which compensation is sought. Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 1988 (Alaska 1970)

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties.

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees. (a) . . .  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.
(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  

Where an employer resists payment of benefits, and a claimant employs an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, an award of attorney fees may be made under AS 23.30.145(b).  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007).   In Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986), the Alaska Supreme Court held attorney fee awards under AS 23.30.145(b) should be “both fully compensatory and reasonable so that competent counsel will be available to furnish legal services to injured workers.” In determining a reasonable fee, the board is required to consider the contingency nature of representing injured workers, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, the benefits resulting from the services obtained, the fee customarily charged in the locale for similar services, and the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer performing the services. Id. at 975.  

AS 23.30.155. Payment of compensation. (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.  To controvert a claim, the employer must file a notice, on a form prescribed by the director . . . 

AS 23.30.190. Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  (a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.  The percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under (b) of this section.  The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041, but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations. 

(b)  All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, except that an impairment rating may not be rounded to the next five percent.  The board shall adopt a supplementary recognized schedule for injuries that cannot be rated by use of the American Medical Association Guides. . . .

A claim for PPI benefits is not a claim for compensation for “disability” as set forth in 
AS 23.30.105, and as defined by the Alaska Supreme Court in Rydwell v. Anchorage School Dist., 864 P.2d 526, 529 (Alaska 1993).  See, e.g., Harig v. Kuukpik Arctic Catering LLC, Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd. Dec. No. 07-0148 (June 6, 2007); Rushing v. Alaska Environmental Supply, Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd. Dec. No. 03-0306 (December 24, 2003).  AS 23.30.105(a) does not apply to  PPI claims, in accordance with the Alaska Supreme Court’s holdings in Rydwell, Egemo, and the plain wording in AS 23.30.105(a) and AS 23.30.395(16).  Nunez v. Norquest Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 12-001 (January 5, 2012). 
AS 23.30.395. Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

(16) ‘disability’ means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment; . . . .

3 AAC 26.100.  Additional standards for prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of workers’ compensation claims.  Any person transacting a business of insurance who participates in the investigation, adjustment, negotiation, or settlement of a workers’ compensation claim:

. . .


(2)  shall provide necessary claim forms, written instructions, and assistance that is reasonable so that any claimant not represented by an attorney is able to comply with the law and reasonable claims handling requirements;

. . .

8 AAC 45.050.  Pleadings.  (a) A person may start a proceeding before the board by filing a written claim . . . 

 (b) Claims and petitions. 

(1) A claim is a written request for benefits, including compensation, attorney’s fees, costs, interest, reemployment or rehabilitation benefits, rehabilitation specialist or provider fees, or medical benefits under the Act, that meets the requirements of (4) of this subsection.  The board has a form that may be used to file a claim.  In this chapter, an application is a written claim.

. . .


(e)  A pleading may be amended at any time before award upon such terms as the board or its designee directs.  If the amendment arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out or attempted to be set out in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading . . .

8 AAC 45.054.  Discovery. (a)  The testimony of a material witness, including a party, may be taken by written or oral deposition . . .

(b) Upon the petition of a party, the board will, in its discretion, order other means of discovery.
8 AAC 45.060.  Service. . . .

. . .

(b) A party shall file a document with the board . . . either personally or by mail; the board will not accept any other form of filing.  Except for a claim, a party shall serve a copy of a document filed with the board upon all parties or, if a party is represented, upon the party’s representative.  Service must be done, either personally, by facsimile, electronically, or by mail, in accordance with due process.   Service by mail is complete at the time of deposit in the mail if mailed with sufficient postage and properly addressed to the party at the party’s last known address.  If a right may be exercised or an act is to be done, three days must be added to the prescribed period when a document is served by mail.  

(c)  A party shall file proof of service with the board.  Proof of service may be made by


(1) affidavit of service; if service was electronic or by facsimile, the affidavit must verify successfully sending the document to the party;


(2) written statement, signed by the person making the statement upon the document served, together with proof of successfully sending the document to the party if served by facsimile or electronically; or


(3) letter of transmittal if served by mail.

(d) A proof of service must set out the names of the persons served, method and date of service, place of personal service or the address to which it was mailed or sent by facsimile or electronically, and verification of successful sending if required.  The board will, in its discretion, refuse to consider a document when proof of its service does not conform to the requirements of this subsection.

. . .

8 AAC 45.092.  Selection of an independent medical examiner.  (a) The board will maintain a list of physicians’ names for second independent medical evaluations . . . 

. . .

(h) If the board requires an evaluation under AS 23.30.095(k), the board will, in its discretion, direct 

(1) a party to make two copies of all medical records, including medical providers' depositions, regarding the employee in the party's possession, put the copies in chronological order by date of treatment with the initial report on top and the most recent report at the end, number the copies consecutively, and put the copies in two separate binders; 

. . .

(5)  that, within 10 days after a parties filing of verification that the binders are complete, each party may submit to the board designee up to three questions per medical issue in dispute under AS 23.30.095(k), as identified by the parties, the board designee, or the board, as follows:

(A)  if all parties are represented by counsel, the board designee shall submit to the physician all questions submitted by the parties in addition to and at the same time as the questions developed by the board designee;

(i) The report of the physician who is serving as an independent medical examiner must be done within 14 days after the evaluation ends.  The evaluation ends when the physician reviews the medical records provided by the board, receives the results of all consultations and tests, and examines the injured worker. . . . Until the parties receive the second independent medical examiner’s written report, communications by and with the second independent medical examiner are limited, as follows:

 (1) a party or party’s representative and the examiner may communicate as needed to schedule or change the scheduling of the examination;

(2)  the employee and the examiner may communicate as necessary to complete the examination;

(3) the examiner’s communications with a physician who has examined, treated, or evaluated the employee must be in writing, and a copy of the written communication must be sent to the board and the parties; the examiner must request the physician report in writing and request that the physician not communicate in any other manner with the examiner about the employee’s condition, treatment or claim.


(j) After a party receives an examiner’s report, communication with the examiner is limited as follows and must be in accord with this subsection.  If a party wants the opportunity to


(1) submit interrogatories or depose the examiner, the party must


(A) file with the board and serve upon the examiner and all parties, within 30 days after receiving the examiner’s report, a notice of scheduling a deposition or copies of the interrogatories; if notice or the interrogatories are not served in accordance with this paragraph, the party waives the right to question the examiner unless the opposing party gives timely notice of scheduling a deposition or serves interrogatories; and


(B) initially pay the examiner’s charges to respond to the interrogatories or for being deposed; after a hearing and in accordance with AS 23.30.145 or AS 23.30.155(d), the charges may be awarded as costs to the prevailing party; . . . .

(2) communicate with the examiner regarding the evaluation or report, the party must communicate in writing, serve the other parties with a copy of the written communication at the same time the communication is sent or personally delivered to the examiner, and file a copy of the written communication with the board; or

(3) question the examiner at a hearing, the party must initially pay the examiner’s fee for testifying; after a hearing and in accordance with AS 23.30.145 or AS 23.30.155(d), the board will, in its discretion, award the examiner’s fee as costs to the prevailing party. . . . . 

“Medical records,” as the term is intended under 8 AAC 45.092(h), are those records maintained in the regular course of business by a physician or other medical provider which the medical provider has prepared, or which has been generated at the direction of the physician or other medical provider, for the purpose of providing medical diagnosis or treatment on behalf of the patient.  Wilson v. Eastside Carpet, Co., AWCB Decision No. 09-0029 (February 10, 2009).

“Treatment” is defined as:  1. The act or manner of treating;   2. Medical application of remedies so as to affect a cure: THERAPY.  Webster’s II, New Riverside University Dictionary, (1994).

8 AAC 45.110.  Record of proceedings.  (a)  Evidence, exhibits, or other things received in evidence at a hearing or otherwise placed in the record by board order and any thing filed in the case file established in accordance with 8 AAC 45.032 is the written record at a hearing before the board. . .

. . .

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence . . . 

. . .

(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter.  Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions.  Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but it is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.  The rules of privilege apply to the same extent as in civil actions.  Irrelevant or unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded on those grounds. . . .

(f) Any document . . . that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board’s discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing.

…

8 AAC 45.182.  Controversion.  (a) To controvert a claim the employer shall file form 07-6105 in accordance with AS 23.30.155(a) and shall serve a copy of the notice of controversion upon all parties in accordance with 8 AAC 45.060. 

The board has refused to dismiss claims where an employer has not filed with the board or retained in its file the fully executed, board-prescribed double-sided Controversion Notice.  Parsons v. Craig City School District, AWCB Decision No. 11-140 (September 13, 2011).
8 AAC 45.900. Definitions.

(a) In this chapter

. . .

(2)  “board” means any single three-member panel, or quorum thereof, of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board;

. . .

(4)  “claim” includes any matter over which the board has jurisdiction. . . .
“Preponderance of evidence” is defined as:  Evidence which is of greater weight or more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it; that is, evidence which as a whole shows that the fact sought to be proved is more probable than not . . . With respect to burden of proof in civil actions, means greater weight of evidence, or evidence which is more credible and convincing to the mind.  That which best accords with reason and probability.  The word “preponderance” means something more than “weight:’ it denotes a superiority of weight, or outweighing . . . Black’s Law Dictionary, Fifth Edition, 1979. 

Alaska Rules of Evidence.  Rule 408.  Compromise and Offers to Compromise.    
Evidence of (1) furnishing or offering or promising to furnish or (2) accepting or offering or promising to accept, a valuable consideration in compromising or attempting to compromise a claim which was disputed as to either validity or amount, is not admissible to prove liability for or invalidity of the claim or its amount. Evidence of conduct or statements made in compromise negotiations is likewise not admissible.  This rule does not require the exclusion of any evidence otherwise discoverable merely because it is presented in the course of compromise negotiations.  This rule also does not require exclusion when the evidence is offered for another purpose, such as proving bias or prejudice of a witness, negativing a contention of undue delay, or proving an effort to obstruct a criminal investigation or prosecution, but exclusion is required where the sole purpose for offering the evidence is to impeach a party by showing a prior inconsistent statement.

ANALYSIS

1)  Should Employee’s claim for disability benefits for his February 16, 1988 work injury be dismissed under AS 23.30.105(a)?

Under the law in effect at the time of Employee’s February 16, 1988 work injury, where, as here, payment of compensation was made without an award, a claim is timely under AS 23.30.105(a) if filed within two years from the last date “compensation” was paid.  In 1989, the Alaska Supreme Court held that until the legislature resolved otherwise, “compensation” under the Act included “medical benefits.” Moretz, 783 P.2d at 766.

On March 18, 2009, Employer paid $1,275.00 on Employee’s behalf for a thoracic spine MRI.  Based on the law in effect at the time of the February 16, 1988 work injury, Employee had until March 18, 2011 in which to file his claim for benefits for this injury.  For this reason, as well as the reasons enumerated below which apply to both the 1988 and 1990 work injuries, Employee’s August 23, 2010 claim for benefits for work injuries sustained in February, 1988 was timely filed and will not be dismissed.

2)  Should Employee’s claim for disability benefits for his October 28, 1990 work injury be dismissed under AS 23.30.105(a)?

AS 23.30.105(a) was amended effective July 1, 1988. The amendments provided that for work injuries sustained after July 1, 1988, where payment of compensation was made without an award, a claim for disability benefits is timely under AS 23.30.105(a) if filed within two years of the last date benefits are paid under AS 23.30.041 (reemployment benefits), 23.30.180 (permanent total disability), 23.30.185 (temporary total disability), 23.30.190 (permanent partial impairment), 23.30.200 (temporary partial disability), or 23.30.215 (death).  Payment of medical benefits under AS 23.30.095 was excluded from the list of benefits for which the last payment date triggers the claim filing requirements in §105(a).  

Because Employee’s second work injury, on October 28, 1990, falls under AS 23.30.105(a) as amended, Employer’s March 18, 2009 payment of medical benefits for Employee’s thoracic MRI was no longer the operative trigger for the statute of limitations on claims under AS 23.30.105(a).  The last payment of benefits, other than medical benefits, for Employee’s 1990 injury, was in 1995, when Employer paid PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190.  

However, for injuries sustained both before and after July 1, 1988, AS 23.30.105(a) bars an employee’s claim unless it is filed within two years “after the employee has knowledge of the nature of his disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement.”  An employee must have actual or chargeable knowledge of his disability, and its relation to employment, to start the running of the two-year claim filing period under §105(a).  An injured worker will not be charged with the requisite knowledge until he knows the disability’s relation to his employment, and its full effect on his wage earning capacity.  Awareness of the disability’s physical effects alone is not sufficient.  Leslie Cutting, Inc. v. Bateman, 833 P.2d at 691-92, 694.
a) 
Employee did not have chargeable knowledge of his disability and its relation to his employment for ARCO as early as Employer contends.   

An allegation a claim was untimely filed under AS 23.30.105(a) is an affirmative defense.  In workers’ compensation cases, the employer bears the burden of proving the affirmative defense of failure to timely file a claim.  Egemo, 998 P. 2d at 438; Anchorage Roofing Co., Inc. v. Gonzales, 507 P.2d at 504.   

In order for Employer to prevail on its affirmative defense under §105(a), it must prove by a preponderance of evidence Employee was disabled, knew the nature of his disability, and knew of its relation to his employment for ARCO, two years prior to the date he filed his claim. In other words, Employer must prove by a preponderance of evidence Employee knew he was disabled, knew the full economic effect of his disability, and of its relation to his employment for ARCO, before August 23, 2008.  Employer has failed to meet this burden.  

Employer relies on the fact Employee took medical leave following a shift ending March 25, 2008, the assertion he did not work again after March 25, 2008, a statement in his application for social security benefits, Employee’s purported statements to medical providers, and selected portions of his deposition testimony, as proof Employee knew the relation between his disablement and his employment for ARCO by March 25, 2008.  However, after careful review of the record as a whole, the greater weight of evidence demonstrates Employee did not know the nature of his disability and it relation to his employment for ARCO on March 25, 2008.  Nor did he know it when he applied for social security benefits on June 25, 2008. 
The preponderance of evidence demonstrates that from August, 2007, when an MRI revealed discogenic spondylosis C5-C6, severe bilateral neural foraminal narrowing from C3-C4 and C6-C7, and multilevel cervical degenerative disc and degenerative facet disease, through at least October 30, 2008, when Dr. Eule informed Employee there was nothing surgical he could offer to relieve Employee’s pain, the predominant focus of medical care Employee sought and received was for incapacitating cervical or neck pain, which, during the relevant period, Employee was not associating with his 1988 and 1990 thoracic or mid-back injuries.  (Findings of Fact 47-78).  

After August 2007 imaging revealed severe cervical disc disease, all of Employee’s medical records, with the exception of two visits to Dr. James for his continuing thoracic spine care on November 13, 2007 and March 13, 2008, reflect the focus of Employee’s pain complaints, and the medical care he sought and received, was for incapacitating pain in his cervical spine.  Beginning in November, 2007, the medical records show Employee’s visits with Dr. McIntosh were for complaints of neck pain interfering with his ability to work, not thoracic pain. On November 26, 2007, Dr. McIntosh noted his neck pain getting worse and “can’t be tolerated at times.”  She wrote “He has to commute 1½ hours to work and has to stop halfway there because of the pain.”  

In January, 2008, Dr. McIntosh referred Employee to orthopedist Dr. Peterson for his neck pain.  Dr. Peterson referred him to Dr. Polston, a pain management specialist, for cervical facet blocks.  On March 4, 2008, Employee’s responses on Dr. Polston’s new patient information sheet demonstrate Employee was not at that time connecting his disabling neck pain with the work injuries sustained to his thoracic spine 18 and 20 years before.  When asked the location of the symptoms for which he was seeing Dr. Polston, Employee responded: “Both Right and Left Side,” “Neck,” “Shoulder,” “Arm(s),” “Wrist(s),” “Hand(s),” “Finger(s),” “Chest.”  He did not check any of the boxes to indicate he was seeing Dr. Polston for his “upper,” “middle” or “lower” back.  Asked if he was seeing Dr. Polston for a work injury, Employee responded “No.”  Asked later if his symptoms began after an injury, Employee responded consistently “No,” and added “not that I am aware of.”  

Beginning in early March, 2008, the medical records reflect Dr. McIntosh’s belief Employee’s neck pain, not his thoracic pain, was causing his disablement from work.  On March 12, 2008, she noted seeing Employee for follow-up of neck pain, severe at that time at 6/10 or greater on the left side of his neck.  And though noting Employee had recently returned from receiving a neck injection from an Anchorage specialist to whom she had referred him, opined his neck pain “. . . is where he can’t work anymore” . . . “He is no longer able to do the work that he is assigned to do on the job. . .” and “He should be off work, trying new pain medications.”  Shortly thereafter, on Dr. McIntosh’s recommendation and with her support, Employee sought FMLA leave from his then employer Peak, and was granted it on March 31, 2008, subject to physician verification.  Dr. McIntosh later verified Employee’s incapacity on the required form, noting consistently with her March 12, 2008 chart note entry that treatment during the leave period would consist of prescription drugs, therapy and surgery. 

On April 2, 2008, on Dr. Polson’s recommendation and Dr. McIntosh’s referral, Employee began physical therapy.  The working diagnosis for these PT sessions was “cervical disorder and cervical radiculopathy.”  On April 14, 2008, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee reporting no improvement in his neck pain after Dr. Polson’s further injections in his neck, and prescribed morphine for pain. On April 22, 2008, Dr. Polson performed diagnostic cervical medial branch blocks at C4, C5, and C6.  On April 23, 2008, neurologist Dr. Ellenson, performed diagnostic nerve conduction and EMG studies for Employee’s complaints of left shoulder and neck pain with numbness in the left third and fourth digits.  

On further follow-up for Employee’s chronic neck pain on May 19, 2008, Dr. McIntosh noted the prescribed morphine was not working.  She wrote “nothing has worked” on Employee’s pain, and referred him back to Anchorage specialists for “chronic neck pain,” noting “He is unable to work with this chronic pain.”  On July 21, 2008, Employee was seen for evaluation of neck pain, left upper extremity numbness and tingling by a physician’s assistant at Orthopedic Physicians Anchorage, who diagnosed multilevel degenerative disc disease, cervical spine; facet syndrome; and chronic neck pain with left upper extremity radiculopathy.  They discussed possible treatment options. It may be the discussion included disc replacement, since EME Dr. Stanford noted in his October 24, 2008 report his likely concurrence with disc replacement if Dr. Eule recommended it.  The PA was to follow up with Employee after conferring with Dr. Eule.

It was not until August 8, 2008, that Dr. McIntosh diagnosed “chronic myofascial pain syndrome,” “not adequately controlled,” and her records reflect her recognition and opinion Employee’s myofascial pain syndrome as she now classified it, “originated with a thoracic injury.”  There is no evidence she relayed the connection she then appears to have made between Employee’s chronic neck pain and his thoracic work injuries 18 and 20 years earlier. 

Employer points to Employee’s having applied for social security benefits on June 27, 2008, and on his application responding to the question why he stopped working with the statement  “I finally realized I could not continue,” as proof Employee knew he was disabled from work as early as March 25, 2008.  Based on the evidence as a whole, however, these facts are not persuasive Employee knew on either March 25, 2008, when he last worked, or June 27, 2008, when he completed the SS application, that his disablement was related to the thoracic injuries he sustained in 1998 and 1990.  Indeed, during the critical time period from August 2007 and extending well into the latter part of 2008, during which Employee filed for FMLA leave, and applied for social security when he could not provide the full medical release Peak required to allow his return to work, the medical records overwhelmingly support the conclusion both Employee and Dr. McIntosh believed it was his incapacitating cervical pain, not his thoracic injuries, which precipitated his disablement.  

In support of its argument Employee knew of his disablement and its relation to his 1988 and 1990 employment with ARCO early in 2008,  Employer also relies on the fact the SSA’s primary diagnosis when it awarded Employee disability benefits was “Disorders of Back (Discogenic & Degenerative).”  However, this argument overlooks that under SSA’s impairment coding, “Body Sys. 01,” “Code No. 7240,” “Disorders of Back (Discogenic & Degenerative),” is a broad impairment category, encompassing discogenic and degenerative disorders of the entire vertebral system: cervical, thoracic, lumbar and sacral vertebrae.
   This contention also disregards the fact the SSA physician’s diagnosis, upon which the general SSA classification “disorders of the back” relied, was “Cervical Spondylosis.”  Dr. Caldwell based his diagnosis on medical records from the physicians and medical providers treating Employee’s chronic neck pain during the previous year:  Drs. McIntosh, Peterson, Polston, PA-C Morgan, Frontier Physical Therapy and Alaska Open Imaging, not those of Dr. James, who was treating Employee’s thoracic pain exclusively.  

Finally, Employer relies on Employee’s March 23, 2011 deposition reply that “in [his] mind, what was happening in 2008 was always related to these incidents back in ’88 and ’90.”  This statement does not support a finding Employee knew on March 25, 2008 his disablement was related to his 1988 and 1990 thoracic injuries, as Employer contends.  At most, this testimony demonstrates only that Employee knew, at last, when questioned on March 23, 2011, that his disablement in 2008 was “always related to” his thoracic work injuries in 1988 and 1990, though of course he appears to have known of the relationship at least by July 1, 2010, when he prepared and signed his WCC, noting the body parts injured in 1988 and 1990 were his “Thoracic Spine – left shoulder – neck.”   (emphasis added).

On what date before July 1, 2010 Employee may have made the association between his incapacitating neck pain in 2008, and his 1988 and 1990 work injuries and continuing thoracic pain, need not be determined with precision.  The issue is whether a preponderance of the evidence demonstrates Employee, by August 23, 2008, knew or reasonably should have known his disablement in 2008 was related to his thoracic work injuries in 1988 and 1990.  But as late as October 27, 2008, Dr. Eule’s assessment was cervical degenerative changes with questionable cervical radiculopathy, facet arthropathy, and “small thoracic disc herniation of unlikely clinical significance.”  (emphasis added).  Based on the record as a whole, Employee did not, nor reasonably should have known his disablement from chronic cervical pain was related to his 1988 and 1990 thoracic spine injuries until sometime after October 27, 2008.  Moreover, whether Employee’s chronic neck pain is in fact related to the thoracic injuries sustained in 1988 and 1990, and whether employee is entitled to continuing benefits for his work injuries has yet to be proven at a hearing on the merits of his claims.  

Under AS 23.30.105(a), Employee’s August 23, 2010 claim for injuries sustained in 1988 and 1990 was timely filed and will not be dismissed, nor will his amended claims, which, arising out of the same work injuries, relate back to the date the original pleading was filed.

b)
Under the circumstances here, AS 23.30.105(b) prohibits dismissing Employee’s claims. 

AS 23.30.105(b) prohibits dismissing a claim for failure to timely file under AS 23.30.105(a) unless objection to the failure is made at the first hearing of the claim.  This is a rule of judicial economy, and is consistent with both the notion that statutes of limitations are disfavored, and the law’s intent that workers’ compensation cases be decided on their merits.  

A “claim” is a written application for benefits, and includes any matter over which the board has jurisdiction.  8 AAC 45.050(b)(1); 8 AAC 45.900(a)(5).  The board has jurisdiction over discovery matters arising with respect to a claim.  AS 23.30.005.

On August 23, 2010 and October 19, 2010, Employee filed claims for injuries sustained while employed by ARCO in 1988 and 1990, and later amended those claims. Employer filed Answers on September 17, 2010, November 9, 2010, December 20, 2010, and February 21, 2012.  In each of its Answers Employer alleged Employee’s claims were barred under AS 23.30.105(a).  

Prior to the February 29, 2012 hearing on Employer’s petition to dismiss, on August 17, 2011, a hearing was held on the parties’ competing petitions seeking review of the board designee’s May 4, 2011 discovery orders.  According to the record, at the time the August 17, 2011 hearing was scheduled at a June 30, 2011 prehearing conference, Employer was already in possession of all of the relevant evidence upon which it relied for its petition to dismiss:  Employer received the medical records pertaining to Employee’s neck and shoulder complaints in 2007 and 2008, and controverted benefits for Employee’s neck on November 3, 2008.  It obtained Employee’s social security records in late 2009 and filed them on an Affidavit of Service in December, 2010.  It deposed Employee on March 8 and 23, 2011, and became aware of Employee’s 2008 FMLA leave at least as early as April 6, 2011, when Peak’s July 2008 letter terminating McKenna for his inability to return to full duty was served and filed on an Affidavit of Service.  Indeed, Employer even filed its petition to dismiss Employee’s claims on July 14, 2011, before the August 17, 2011 hearing.  

Because Employer failed to challenge the timeliness of Employee’s claim at the first hearing on the claim, AS 23.30.105(b) prohibits dismissal under AS 23.30.105(a).  Justice, 42 P.3d at 556-557.

c)
The purpose of AS 23.30.105(a) is not served by dismissing Employee’s claims.

The purpose of AS 23.30.105(a) is to protect employers from claims too old to be successfully investigated and defended.  Morrison-Knudsen Co. v. Vereen, 414 P.2d at 538.  That purpose is not served by dismissing Employee’s claims in this case. 
Employer received timely notice of Employee’s 1988 and 1990 work injuries.  It reported, accepted and paid benefits for both for two decades.  It was afforded and took full advantage of every opportunity to investigate the injuries, and did so.  Evident from insurer date stamped receipts on the medical records filed, Employer was timely receiving Employee’s medical records from the time of the original thoracic injury in 1988, through and beyond his 1990 thoracic injury, and continuing.  In 1999 it purportedly controverted benefits related to joint pain or arthritis in Employee’s wrists, hands, knees and feet, stating the “medical documentation” showed the work injury was to Employee’s back.  In 2003 Employer purportedly controverted medical treatment for carpal tunnel syndrome (CPS), again stating the accepted injury was to Employee’s “mid-back,” and any CPS was unrelated to his employment.   

In December 2004, Employer sent Employee for an EME with orthopedic surgeon Dr. Grossenbacher, supplying him with medical records dating back to 1990.  Dr. Grossenbacher reviewed the medical records, examined Employee, and provided Employer with a thorough report.  Dr. Grossenbacher diagnosed degenerative disc disease T5-6, T7-8 with small disc herniation to the right at T5-6, and chronic thoracic radiculopathy.  Dr. Grossenbacher opined Employee had not recovered from his injuries, and attributed Employee’s symptoms and need for medical care to the 1990 work injury.  

Employer continued receiving Employee’s medical records. In October, 2008, Employer scheduled an EME with Dr. Stanford.  Asked whether he agreed with Dr. Grossenbacher’s opinions, Dr. Stanford agreed Employee’s symptoms were related to “the injury in question,” with his only possible disagreement with Dr. Grossenbacher being his belief Employee might indeed benefit from surgery suggested by Dr. Eule’s office.  Dr. Stanford concluded Employee’s problem began with the work injury, which caused damage to the thoracic joint space, “and it continues to deteriorate.”  He opined the work injury was both “a substantial factor,” and “the substantial cause” for Employee’s continuing symptoms and need for medical treatment, “and there is no question that there will be more erosion to the joint space because of that work, but this would not have happened absent the injury of October 28, 1990.”  

On May 15, 2009, Employee was seen for a follow-up EME by Dr. Stanford.  Additional medical records from 2008 and 2009 were provided to him.  This EME report formed the basis of another Controversion Notice.

On December 8, 2009, Employer sent Employee for a third EME with Dr. Stanford.  This was the first of the four EMEs where the EME physician was provided with medical records for treatment Employee received following the 1988 work injury.  Employer asked Dr. Stanford:  “After reviewing this more complete medical file, in your opinion, is the 10/28/90 work injury still a substantial factor in causing Mr. McKenna’s spinal condition, complaints, and need for treatment. . .?”  Apparently with no knowledge Employee’s 1988 thoracic injury was also an accepted work injury to the same body part, and involving the same employer and insurer, Dr. Stanford responded:  “The review of a more complete medical file convinces me that this gentleman’s alleged injury of October 28, 1990 is not a substantial factor in causing his spinal conditions . . . and need for treatment. . . He had significant symptoms prior to his injury in October of 1990 requiring several tests and visits . . . There is a natural progression of this type of symptomatology . . . I cannot implicate a specific episode on October 28, 1990 considering the history for 2 ½ years, at least, prior to that date.”  Based on Dr. Stanford’s report, on December 24, 2009, Employer denied “All medical benefits including weaning of narcotics.”  

There is no evidence demonstrating Employer was in any way prejudiced in its investigation of Employee’s 1988 or 1990 work injuries.  Indeed, the overwhelming evidence is Employer was well aware of both injuries at the time each occurred. It conducted its own investigations and prepared internal injury reports, in addition to preparing ROIs for both injuries.  It received all medical records as they were generated.  It obtained independent medical evaluations from its own physicians on four occasions between 1999 and 2009, and provided uninterrupted medical care for Employee’s thoracic injuries from 1988, until it controverted medical benefits in their entirety on December 23, 2009.  Given Employer’s full and contemporaneous knowledge and investigation of Employee’s work injuries and ongoing medical care, and the absence of any demonstrated prejudice to Employer, the purpose of §105(a), to protect employers from prejudice suffered from stale claims, would not be served by dismissing Employee’s claims in this case. 

 d) 
 The intent of the Act is not served by dismissing Employee’s claims.

Neither the intent of the Act, nor due process is served by dismissing Employee’s claims.  In addition to ensuring the quick, efficient, fair and predictable delivery of benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to employers, the Act declares its intent that workers’ compensation cases be decided on their merits, that hearings be fair and impartial, that all parties be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard, and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.  

Fundamental fairness requires that a party be provided notice of his rights and responsibilities under the Act.  The Alaska Supreme Court has repeatedly instructed the board it has a duty to fully advise every applicant for compensation as to all the real facts which bear on his condition, and on his right to compensation, and to instruct him on how to pursue that right under the law.  Richards v. Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co., 384 at 449.  More recently, the court reaffirmed the board’s duty in Bohlmann v. Alaska Const. & Engineering, 205 P.3d  at 320.  The Bohlmann court also referenced its decision in Hymes v. Deramus, 119 P.3d 963 (Alaska 2005), noting the responsibility of accuracy where an opposing party is charged with providing notice of procedural rights to pro se litigants.  Here, neither the board, nor Employer, both of whom bore a responsibility to instruct Mr. McKenna on how to pursue his claims, fulfilled those responsibilities.  

There is no evidence the Board provided Employee with any information or instruction on how to protect his rights under the Act until the first prehearing conference on November 30, 2010, when the prehearing officer provided Employee with the board publication “Workers’ Compensation and You,” informed him of his right to obtain counsel, and cautioned him about dismissal under AS 23.30.110(c).   But this was after Employee had filed his claims, and well after the date Employer asserts Employee’s claims became untimely under §105(a) in the first instance.  

Moreover, a preponderance of evidence suggests Employer, through its insurance adjuster, also failed to provide Employee necessary information the law requires it to provide a pro se injured worker.   Under 3 AAC 26.100, any person transacting a business of insurance who participates in the investigation, adjustment, negotiation, or settlement of a workers’ compensation claim “shall provide necessary claim forms, written instructions, and assistance that is reasonable so any claimant not represented by an attorney is able to comply with the law and reasonable claims handling requirements.”  The board file reflects direct contacts between the insurance adjuster and Employee with respect to his injuries on at least September 1, 1995, August 20, 2008, and March 6 and 17, 2009.  In none of those contacts does the adjuster acknowledge providing Mr. McKenna with claim forms, written instructions, or any assistance in order that he may comply with the law, although the 1995 entry demonstrates the adjuster’s suggestion the parties enter a full and final settlement “of his clm.”

Nor is there evidence Employee was timely served with notice of the limitations period for filing a claim, which Employer is required to serve with the board-prescribed Controversion Notice.   Absent from the first three Controversion Notices, dated April 19, 1999, July 28, 2003 and December 6, 2005, is any signature certifying the Controversion Notices were served on Employee.  Of equal concern is the absence of proof that even were the front side of the controversion notices signed and served, they omitted the reverse side of this two-sided board-prescribed “Notice” form.  The reverse side is particularly important because it informs an employee of his need to file a claim within certain time frames, and provides information on how to contact the board.  Employer has at least twice filed unsigned, single sided copies of  April, 1999 and July, 2003 Controversion Notices, once filed a singled sided copy of a December 6, 2005 Controversion Notice, and twice written the board of its inability to obtain signed copies, or explain why signed copies are unavailable.  The board has refused to dismiss claims where an employer has not filed with the board or retained in its file the fully executed, board-prescribed double-sided Controversion Notice.  Parsons v. Craig City School District, AWCB Decision No. 11-140 (September 13, 2011).  While Parsons was a case denying dismissal of a claim for failing to timely request a hearing under AS 23.30.110(c), the underlying tenet is the same:  the ultimate sanction of dismissal will not be imposed where irregularities in filing or serving a controversion notice suggest a failure to provide a worker with notice of his rights and how to preserve them.  

Dismissing Mr. McKenna’s claims, where Employer fully investigated the work injuries, suffered no cognizable prejudice, and where both the board and Employer neglected their responsibilities to Employee, neither providing him with timely instruction and notice on how to preserve his claims, would deny Mr. McKenna fundamental fairness and due process of law.  

3)  Should the June 29, 2006 letter to Employee from James Roberts, HR director for Peak Oilfield Services, Bates stamped page 495, be stricken from the SIME binders?

The binders prepared for the SIME physician are comprised of all relevant medical records.  “Medical records,” as the term is intended under 8 AAC 45.092(h), are those records maintained in the regular course of business by a physician or other medical provider which the medical provider has prepared, or which has been generated at the direction of the physician or other medical provider, for the purpose of providing medical diagnosis or treatment on behalf of the patient. Wilson v. Eastside Carpet, AWCB Decision No. 09-0029 at 7.  Bates stamped page 495 in the SIME binder is a letter from Mr. Roberts, Peak’s HR director, to Employee.  There is no evidence Mr. Roberts is a physician or other medical provider.  His letter was not generated for the purpose of diagnosis or treatment.  It not a medical record and will be stricken from the SIME binder.  

4)  Should pharmacy records, Bates stamped pages 008-140, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884 be stricken from the SIME binders?

As above noted, binders prepared for the SIME physician are comprised of all relevant medical records. The pharmacy logs and receipts contained at Bates stamped pages 008-140, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884 are not medical records as intended under the Act.  Medical records are those prepared by a medical provider on behalf of his or her patient.  A medical provider delivers professional medical care services, which, in addition to those of physicians, has been interpreted to include the records of other providers of medical care services.  In addition to physicians, medical services providers include physician’s assistants, nurse practitioners, nurses, psychologists, physical therapists, and professional counselors.  

Pharmacy logs and receipts, however, are prepared by pharmacists, pharmacy technicians, or clerical staff employed by a pharmacy, and who dispense a product.   They do not provide medical care services to their patient.  The purchaser is a customer of the dispensing pharmacy, not its patient.  While the product dispensed is at the direction of a prescribing physician, the pharmacy’s records are not generated for the purpose of providing medical diagnosis or treatment services.  The medical care services from which the creation of pharmacy logs and receipts derive are those rendered by a physician, physician’s assistant, or nurse practitioner after examining the patient, providing a medical diagnosis and recommending treatment.  The medications a medical provider prescribes in conjunction with their examination, diagnosis and treatment of a patient are reflected in the medical records the medical provider generates and maintains, and thereby appear in the SIME binders, in context and in chronological order, for the SIME physician’s examination.

Of additional concern is the fact the pharmacy logs contain prescription listings wholly unrelated to the work injuries at issue in this case.  The board has consistently upheld an employee’s right to maintain the confidentiality of medical information not relevant to the work injury.  The legislature recognized this right to privacy in 2010, when it amended AS 23.30.108,  adding subsections (d) and (e), and directing the division, the board, the appeals commission, and the parties to return to an employee all medical information in its possession unrelated to the employee’s injury.   To include the over-inclusive pharmacy logs in the SIME binders would violate Mr. McKenna’s right to privacy in matters unrelated to the work injuries at issue here.  Carol Adkins v. Alaska Job Corps Center, AWCB Decision No. 07-0128 (May 16, 2007); Syren v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 06-0004 (January 6, 2006).  

5)  Should Employer’s proposed questions for the SIME physician, numbered 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D and its attachments, question 3E, and footnote 1 to question number 4, be excluded from the board designee’s letter to the SIME physician?

At the board’s discretion, where both parties are represented by counsel, the law allows them to submit up to three questions per medical issue in dispute, for inclusion with the board’s inquiry to the SIME physician.  

In their joint application for an SIME here, the parties agreed there were two issues for the SIME physician’s consideration: causation and treatment.  Each party was thus entitled to propose a total of six questions:  three addressing causation, and three pertaining to treatment.  Employer proposed eight, not six, numbered questions.  Employer’s questions numbered 1-7 pertained to causation.  Question 8 alone addressed treatment.  Employer’s proposed question number three contains five subparts, and asks the SIME physician to “address and comment on the following potential [five] causes” Employer derived from both medical and non-medical records it attached to proposed question 3D,  and to which it directed the SIME physician’s attention.  

Employee’s objections to Employer’s proposed questions for the SIME physician, numbered 3A-3E: that they are not questions, and if considered questions, exceed the allowable three questions per issue, are well-taken.  

The law allows each party to submit “questions.”  Employer’s proposed “questions” numbered 3A through 3E are not questions, but requests for a narrative statement.  Such an inquiry is more suitable to written interrogatories or deposition, not for inclusion with the board designee’s questions to the SIME physician.  In addition, the attachments to 3D are either medical records already contained in the SIME binders, or non-medical records, such as Employee’s resume and a social security statement of earnings, inappropriate for inclusion in an SIME binder.  Employer’s proposed “questions” 3A through 3E and attachments are non-conforming, and will not be included in the letter to the SIME physician.  

Employer’s question 4 also pertains to causation, and in footnote 1, sets out what it purports to be the applicable legal standard for causation for cases arising, as in this case, prior to November 8, 2005.  The footnote, however, provides no legal citations, nor could Employer at hearing provide citations to support its rendition of the law.  The board designee’s letter, in every instance, provides the SIME physician with the applicable legal standard to apply.  The SIME physician is the board’s expert. To include Employer’s questionable interpretation of the applicable legal standard would cause confusion, and result in an uncertain, muddled and useless response to the board’s questions, and causing a wasteful expenditure of Employer’s resources.  Footnote 1 to Employer’s question 4 will be excluded from the board designee’s inquiry to the SIME physician.

The decision to omit the pharmacy logs and receipts, Employer’s question 3, and footnote 1 to question 4 from the questions posed to the SIME physician, does not leave Employer without a remedy. After the SIME physician’s report is filed, the parties are free to submit interrogatories, depose or otherwise communicate with the SIME physician in writing, as 8 AAC 45.092(j) allows.

6)   Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney fees?  If so, in what amount?

Where an employer resists payment of compensation or medical and related benefits, and a claimant employs an attorney who successfully prosecutes his claim, the board “shall” make an award of attorney fees and costs to the employee.  AS 23.30.145(b).  The fee award must be fully compensatory and reasonable, and must consider the contingency nature of representing injured workers, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, the benefits resulting from the services obtained, the fee customarily charged in the locale for similar services, and the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer performing the services.  

Employer correctly contends an award of fees should be limited to only those fees reasonably incurred for prevailing issues.  Employee has prevailed on all issues litigated at the February 29, 2012 hearing, and thus no apportionment need be made in this analysis between issues won or lost.  

Employer further contends fees may not be awarded under AS 23.30.145(a), which are based on benefits awarded, since Employee will receive no monetary award from any issues decided at this time.  While Employee does not specify under which subsection of §145 his request for fees is made, an award of fees under §145(b) is appropriate where, as here, the employer resisted payment of benefits, and the employee prevailed as a result of his attorney’s efforts.  

While Employer does not dispute Mr. Jensen’s entitlement to $385.00 per hour for his services, it contends the $165.00 per hour billed for Mr. Jensen’s paralegal’s efforts is excessive.  Use of a paralegal to supplement an attorney’s efforts, however, reduces the overall cost of case preparation since the paralegal is billed at a significantly lower rate than the attorney.  An hourly rate of $165.00 for an experienced paralegal has been held reasonable and consistent with rates charged by other skilled paralegals, and Mr. Jensen’s paralegal’s services in particular have been previously awarded at $165.00 per hour.  Hanson v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 12-0058 (March 22, 2012) at 14.  

Employer contends many of the entries on the fee affidavits constitute examples of “block billing,” making it difficult to determine whether the time spent on a particular task listed as performed on a particular day is reasonable and necessary.  “Block billing” is a common and longstanding method of billing in the legal profession.  The reasonableness and necessity of listed tasks performed on a single day, as well as the total time spent on the cumulated tasks that day, are discernible by the reviewing hearing officer, also an attorney, without the necessity for recording the precise time utilized for each specific task on a given day.   Where time spent on tasks listed in block billing entries is excessive, hours or hourly billing rates will be reduced.  See, e.g., Mullen v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 10-0172 (October 14, 2010) at 18.  But for a few entries where services were duplicated, which Mr. Jensen conceded in his response to Employer’s objection to his attorney fee affidavits, none of Mr. Jensen’s daily block billing entries suggest unreasonable or unnecessary tasks performed or time expended.  Indeed, the vast majority of Mr. Jensen’s daily entries are for one-tenth of an hour.  On 37 dates out of a total of 43 daily entries, only one or two easily recognizable tasks were performed.  On only six dates did Mr. Jensen’s total time exceed seven tenths of an hour, ranging from one hour, to at the most 3.5 hours on February 29, 2012, the date of the 2.5 hour hearing in this case, where Mr. Jensen’s block billing entry, in addition to traveling to and attending the hearing, reasonably included meeting with his client.

Mr. Jensen’s response to Employer’s objection to his fee affidavits conceded errors in some entries, adequately explained why some entries should be reduced rather than eliminated as Employer contended, and support a deduction of 1.60 hours for attorney services, and 3.20 hours for paralegal services from the fee affidavits filed.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.
Employee’s claims for injuries sustained on February 16, 1988, will not be dismissed.

2.
Employee’s claims for injuries sustained on October 28, 1990, will not be dismissed.

3.   Mr. Roberts June 29, 2006 letter to Employee, Bates stamped page 495, will be stricken from the SIME binders.

4.  The pharmacy records, Bates stamped 008-140, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884, will be stricken from the SIME binders.

5. Employer’s proposed questions for the SIME physician, numbered 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D and its attachments, question 3E, and footnote 1 to question number 4, will be excluded from the board designee’s letter to the SIME physician.

6.  Employee is entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs totaling $10,469.35.

                                                                   FINAL ORDERS

1.   Employer’s petition to dismiss Employee’s claims for injuries sustained on February 16, 1988 and October 28, 1990, is denied. 

2.  Employer shall pay Employee attorney fees and costs totaling $ 10,469.35.

INTERLOCUTORY ORDERS

1.  Employee’s Petition to Strike page 495 from the SIME binders is granted.  Bates stamped page 495 is herewith stricken from the SIME binders.

2.  Employee’s Petition to Strike Bates stamped pages 008-140, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884 is granted.  Bates stamped pages 008-140, 832-834, 839-845 and 846-884 are herewith stricken from the SIME binders.

3.  Employee’s Petition to Strike Employer’s proposed questions for the SIME physician is granted.  Employer’s proposed questions numbered 3A-D, the attachments to 3D, 3E, and footnote 1 to question number 4, are herewith excluded from the board designee’s letter to the SIME physician.
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Rick Traini, Member

CONCURRENCE AND PARTIAL DISSENT BY MEMBER STEELE

I concur with my colleagues on all but one issue.  I respectfully dissent from my colleagues’ decision striking the pharmacy logs and receipts from the SIME binder.  I believe the definition of “medical records” in the workers’ compensation context as defined in Wilson v. Eastside Carpet, should be read more broadly, to include pharmacy logs and receipts, as it is in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).  However, pharmacy logs by their nature are chronological listings of all medical prescriptions dispensed by a pharmacy, which can, and in this instance do, span many years over numerous pages, with multiple dates appearing on a single page.  Because the entries cannot be separated for presentation in chronological order without spoliating the evidence itself, pharmacy logs and receipts should be inserted at the end of SIME binders.  In this manner they provide the SIME physician with an at-a-glance method of reviewing the medications prescribed over a claimant’s course of treatment, which can then be cross-referenced with the medical records preceding the logs in the binders.   I would admit the logs and receipts, but place them at the end of the SIME binders.
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Amy Steele, Member

Final Orders are subject to the following appeal procedures:

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

                                                           RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  

Interlocutory Orders are subject to the following review procedures:

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Under Monzulla v. Voorhees Concrete Cutting, 254 P.3d 341 (Alaska 2011), a party may seek review of an interlocutory or other non-final board decision and order.  Within 10 days after service of the board’s decision and order a party may file with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a petition for review of the interlocutory or other non-final board decision and order.  The commission may or may not accept a petition for review and a timely request for relief from the Alaska Supreme Court may also be required.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final and Interlocutory Decision and Orders in the matter of JAMES G. MCKENNA employee/applicant; v. ARCO ALASKA INC., employer; ACE USA, insurer/defendants; Case Nos. 199028636M AND 198802683; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on April 9, 2012.






______________________________

                                   

Kimberly Weaver, Office Assistant
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� Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation.


� Pertaining to a muscle and its sheath of connective tissue, or fascia.  Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 8th edition. © 2009, Elsevier; http://medical-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/myofascial.


� Supplemental Security Income (SSI) is a Federal income supplement program designed to help aged, blind, and disabled people, who have little or no income; and it provides cash to meet basic needs for food, clothing, and shelter.  http://www.ssa.gov/ssi/


� Cervical spondylosis is a disorder in which there is abnormal wear on the cartilage and bones of the neck (cervical vertebrae).  It is a common cause of chronic neck pain.  U.S. National Library of Medicine, National Institutes of Health. http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/000436.htm.


� Benefits paid to an individual and certain members of his family if he is disabled, and “insured,” meaning he worked long enough and paid social security taxes.  �HYPERLINK "http://www.social"�http:////www.social�security.gov/disability/.


� In May 10, 2011, Employer objected to Employee’s submission of Ms. Mackay’s March 6, 2009 letter, arguing it was irrelevant and inadmissible under Evidence Rule 408. Evidence Rule 408 states “evidence of furnishing or offering or promising to furnish a valuable consideration in compromising or attempting to compromise a disputed claim is not admissible to prove liability for or invalidity of the claim or its amount. This rule does not require the exclusion of any evidence otherwise discoverable merely because it is presented in the course of compromise negotiations, nor does it require exclusion when the evidence is offered for another purpose.”  Evidence Rule 408 does not apply here since Ms. Mackay does not make an offer of settlement in the letter, but specifically states she is “not in the position to make an offer.” Rather, Ms. Mackay’s letter inquires if Mr. McKenna would like to extend a settlement offer to her. However, were the letter interpreted as evidence of furnishing or offering to compromise a claim, it is admissible and is admitted not for that purpose, but as evidence Ms. Mackay did not provide Mr. McKenna with the necessary claim forms, written instructions, and reasonable assistance required of an adjuster handling a workers’ compensation claim, as 3 AAC 26.100 requires, and as evidence Mr. McKenna was not advised of procedures under the Act.  


� Although Employer objected to this letter as irrelevant and inadmissible under Evidence Rule 408, the letter is admitted for the purpose of showing the last date Employer made a compensation payment on behalf of Employee, a fact relevant to Employer’s petition to dismiss Employee’s claims under AS 23.30.105(a).





� Dr. Stanford also writes “As you know, I have seen Mr. McKenna on two occasions; December 9, 2004 and October 24, 2008.”  In fact, Dr. Stanford saw Mr. McKenna on only one occasion: October 24, 2008.  On December 9, 2004, Mr. McKenna was seen by Dr. Grossenbacher for an EME.  


� This statement contradicts that portion of Dr. Stanford’s October 24, 2008 report, where he opined: “. . . though I am often opposed to surgery, I am open to Dr. Eule replacing the disc if he feels it is an appropriate approach to the problem.”  (Compare Dr. Stanford EME report, October 24, 2008 at 8, with Dr. Stanford EME report, December 8, 2009 at 2).


� Gastro-esophageal reflux disease.


� POMS Section: DI 28085.125; https://secure.ssa.gov/poms.nsf/lnx/042808125.
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